P I\ =

e it 3= g B R 2 &
KWUNG'S HOLDINGS LIMITED
REAEREEMALZERLQF
Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
B3 X598 Stock Code:1925



N

KWUNG'S
AAEE, BRAREER



CONTENTS
5 8

02 Definition
Ex

04 Corporate information

REEH

08 Chairman’s statement
FEREE

10 Management discussion and analysis
EIRE R R BT

20 Directors and senior management

EENEREEE

28 Report of the directors
EEgWmE

39 Corporate governance report
CEERRE

54 Independent auditor’s report

B BEN R

Consolidated financial statements

A PBRE

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
61 other comprehensive income
FeBRmnkAEMEmKREE

63 Consolidated statement of financial position

A MBI R

65 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
mAEREER

67 Consolidated statement of cash flows
HEBEESRER

69 Notes to the consolidated financial statements
RE TSR R TR

168  Summary financial information

MBERBE

In case of any inconsistency between the English version and the
Chinese version of this annual report, the English version shall
prevail. And if there is any inconsistency between the Chinese
names of the entities or enterprises established in the PRC
mentioned in this annual report and their English translations,
the Chinese names shall prevail. The English translations of the
Chinese names of such PRC entities or enterprises are provided
for identification purposes only.
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DEFINITION
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the HAARFIRA - BrXFEBBFTIEIN 0 TH@E=E

following terms shall have the meanings set out below:

“Articles”

(4R A

“Board”

-

“China” or “PRC”

[ B )

“Company”

[AR2aE]]
“Corporate Governance Code”
[ BRI

“Directors”

[E=%]

»oo

“Group”, “our Group”, “we”,
“Us” of “our”

KNS AEAEA SN

HHK$7!
[7&7t]

“HKICPA”
[EAEMAE]

“Hong Kong”
(&

o2 KWUNG’S HOLDINGS LIMITED

fE B T XA -

the second amended and restated articles of association of the Company
approved and adopted on 21 June 2023, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

RNARF2023F6 A21 HELERRRNE —HRETRET 2ABE
RAR (ETRHERT ~ Wit sk A E A 77 &2k

the board of Directors

)

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires
and only for the purpose of this annual report, references to China do
not include Taiwan, the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China or the Macao Special Administrative Region of
the People’s Republic of China

PEARKEME  MXBEBASARPAERERAFRME @ AT EOEL
TREAE  PEARKNMBEERHITER K EARLMBEDRPEF
AT R

Kwung'’s Holdings Limited
% R AR A A

the corporate governance code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

EHRRIMERCIFEz A EERTR

the directors of the Company

ARBE=E

the Company and its subsidiaries or, where the context so requires in
respect of the period before the Company became the holding company
of the present subsidiaries, the present subsidiaries of the Company and
the business carried on by such subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
predecessors

ARRREMBRGR X ESHEAE  RARRIKNAERKNE
RAEMIERRE Z AT AR - ARRIBRBHER R RZEME AR (R
BRME) BT H RRREFEHNRE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
EBEEEBHET

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

BN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEIE BRSBTS
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“Listing Rules”

[EmRA

“Ningbo Fenyuan”

[ 25 254 )

“Ningbo Jingxiang”

[ B8 =]

“Ningbo Kwung’s”

[ 2R B ]

“Prospectus”

[ =R

“RMB”
AR

“SFO”

[3& %5 & B E 1601]
“Share(s)”

[ n ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[BR R ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 FAT

“Usp”
E

DEFINITION (CONTINUED)
B=xE)

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B AT E 2 £ AR A

Ningbo Fenyuan Aromatherapy Products Co., Ltd. (BB Z4&EEZXHRE R
X /]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on 7 January
2019, and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
ENFHEEURBBROF - —KR2019F1 B7ERHRBEKIZHER
RAE WAARARNREEEZENMB QG

Ningbo Jingxiang Culture Development Company Limited*( %8 Ji & #£ 301t
I RAMR A 7)), a company established in the PRC with limited liability and

4+ om0

wholly owned by Mr. RU Jin (23 ), a son of a substantial Shareholder
BERREXMCERARLAR  —ZKRPBEKINERAR  THETER
RZFuBaRELEHRE

Ningbo Kwung’s Wisdom Art & Design Co., Ltd. (X B H R TH# R
BB A F]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on 4
January 1999, and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
ERBHERIERAARRIA - R1999F 1 A4BRHPEK I AR
RAE WARAARNREEZ2ENMEB LR

prospectus of the Company dated 30 December 2019
RNARIBEA2019F 12 A30 AN BBRER

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC
HEDETEEEARK

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EREPE SN B B FLEERD) - ETFHERT - AR SAEM T K
EB0

ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
RA AR A B AR E E 0.001 & T A E A

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHEFE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBMERHMERAR]

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
ET EFREBEMETEE

WiERERAT —Bo=gf® 03



CORPORATE INFORMATION
AR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive directors

Mr. JIN Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. TIAN Dong

Non-executive director

Mr. SHAQ Patrick

Independent non-executive director

Mr. LAl Chun Yu
Ms. XU Qiong
Mr. ZHOU Kai

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LAU Chung Wai (FCPA (Practising))

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LAl Chun Yu (Chairman)
Mr. SHAO Patrick
Mr. ZHOU Kai

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. ZHOU Kai (Chairman)
Mr. JIN Jianxin
Mr. LAl Chun Yu

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Ms. XU Qiong (Chairlady)
Mr. JIN Jianxin
Mr. LAl Chun Yu

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

(for the purpose of the Listing Rules)
Mr. LAU Chung Wai
Mr. TIAN Dong

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor

Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

REGISTERED OFFICE

89 Nexus Way
Camana Bay
Grand Cayman
KY1-9009
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1102, 11th Floor

Brill Plaza, No. 84 To Kwa Wan Road
To Kwa Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

827 Qixiang Road
Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province
PRC

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman

KY1-9009

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre
No. 16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

1925

WEBSITE

http://www.kwungs.com
(information on the website does not form part of this annual report)

NEER (&

&)

AR EE

89 Nexus Way
Camana Bay
Grand Cayman
KY1-9009
Cayman Islands
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aBE
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Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman

KY1-9009

Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
ARIER (®)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITRBESE

Dear Shareholders,
Greetings!

Over the past year, our company has achieved remarkable growth
in performance. Our total revenue exceeded RMB 800 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 12%, while our net profit
reached RMB 60.8 million, a remarkable 16% increase compared to
the previous year (see page 117 of this report). In the domestic market,
we also delivered an outstanding performance, with sales revenue
increasing by 48% year-on-year, and our brand business achieving an
impressive 60% year-on-year growth.

To meet the growing market demand, we have been actively expanding
our production capacity. Our new production base in Wuhu, Anhui
Province, is under construction at full speed and is expected to be
officially operational soon, significantly enhancing our production
capabilities and supply chain responsiveness.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Since our listing, we have adhered to the corporate spirit of joint
endeavor and share success. By strengthening our supply chain and
market management, we have ensured ample cash flow, not only
safeguarding the company’s sustainable development but also enabling
us to continuously reward our investors with a stable annual dividend
distribution.

As fragrance products become increasingly prominent in healthy
lifestyles, as a industry leader, we will fully leverage this market trend
to drive the continued growth and prosperity of the company. | firmly
believe that Kwung’s Holdings has a promising future and is worthy of
every investor’s trust and support!

Chairman of the Board
JIN Jianxin

28 March 2024

FEHREE (@)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED N

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group provides solutions to customers on design and manufacture
of home decoration products and home fragrance products, comprising
core products such as home fragrance candles and home fragrance
diffusers, which are considered to be widely used in people’s daily life.

The Group has taken some measures during the year ended 31
December 2023 to further improve on the production management,
product development and sales channel, which are considered to be
one of the reasons for achieving a steady growth on the revenue in
spite of the relatively sluggish economy.

In addition, the Group continues putting a lot of effort in research
and product development. There is a collaboration with Ningbo Tech
University (/T K2 % )12 T B %) to explore new technology on
the Group’s products, such as application of new nano-materials on
home fragrance products and development of new portable fragrance
diffusers, new car-used fragrance diffusers and new lighting products
with fragrance diffusing function. The research on new technology and
development of new products are considered by the Group’s customers
as essential elements for long term business collaboration with the
Group.

In addition to the online showroom that the Group has launched in
response to the lockdown and travel restriction back in 2020, the
Group’s sales teams has put a lot of efforts on the traditional sales
channels, including arranging client visits to the Group’s production
plant in Yinzhou District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC and
visiting client’s headquarters overseas.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly arises from the export sales of the Group’s
candle products, home fragrance products and home accessories
during the year. It increased by approximately RMB87.9 million or
12.2% to approximately RMB806.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately RMB718.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Group secured more purchase orders
from the existing customers, resulting in revenue growth for the year
ended 31 December 2023. In addition, there is an appreciation of USD
against RMB during the year ended 31 December 2023 contributing an
increased revenue for overseas orders denominated in USD.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately RMB27.7 million
or 20.6% to approximately RMB162.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately RMB134.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Such increase in gross profit was mainly
because of the increase in the Group’s revenue during the year ended
31 December 2023.

The Group’s gross profit margin improved slightly for the current year,
changing from approximately 18.7% for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately 20.1% for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which was contributed by improved efficiency in the production
cycle. In addition, the appreciation of USD against RMB during the
year ended 31 December 2023 resulted in an increase in equivalent
unit selling price in RMB but did not bring corresponding decrease in
the production costs of the Group since the majority of the Group’s
suppliers are local enterprises in the PRC and the Group was billed in
RMB, and it results in an improved gross profit margin for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Other income

The Group’s other income mainly comprises income from government
grants in the PRC and also the rental income earned from leasing the
Group’s properties. The decrease in other income during the current
year was mainly attributed to less grants from the local government in
the PRC for the current year.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly comprise payroll costs
for the management team and supporting staff, cost of raw materials
consumed for research and development purpose, depreciation
expenses in relation to the Group’s office buildings and office
equipment and cost of utilities for office use.

There was an increase in administrative expenses of approximately
RMB11.5 million or approximately 17.4% to approximately RMB77.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
RMB66.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Increase in
administrative expenses was mainly due to increased raw materials
consumed for research and development and increased administrative
staff to support the business growth and also salary adjustment for
existing staff in response to their increased duties and performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses mainly comprise advertising
and promotion expenses, payroll costs for staff in sales departments,
sample inspection and express fees, commissions to agents and
operating costs for the Group’s retail stores.

There was an increase in selling and marketing expenses of
approximately RMB3.5 million or 14.2% to approximately RMB28.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
RMB24.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Increase in
the Group’s selling and marketing expenses for the current year was
mainly due to increased payroll costs for the sales teams to support the
business growth.

Other gain, net

The Group’s other gain, net mainly comprises foreign exchange
differences, net fair value changes on foreign exchange forward
contracts, net fair value changes on funds invested, net fair value
change on fixed deposits, net fair value change on foreign exchange
swaps and also donation expenses. There was an increase in other net
gain of approximately RMB11.4 million to approximately RMB19.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
RMB8.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The increase in net other gain for the year ended 31 December 2023
was mainly due to the net fair value gain on the funds invested by the
Group and the net fair value gain on the fixed deposits. The Group
arranged its idle cash to invest into certain funds with low risk profile in
the PRC and some fixed deposits during the year ended 31 December
2022 and the Group enjoyed a full-year return from those investments
during the year ended 31 December 2023 as compared to a partial year
return for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Net finance costs

The Group’s net finance costs mainly represent the interest income
earned from financial institutions and the finance costs incurred for
short-term bank borrowings.

There was a slight decrease in net finance costs of approximately
RMBO.1 million or 8.6% to approximately RMB1.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately RMB1.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group had higher balances on both bank deposits and bank
borrowing amounts during the year. The Group is offered by the local
banks in the PRC for some short-term banking facilities and at the
same time some fixed deposit arrangements. The Group placed a fixed
deposit of approximately RMB101 million using the fund from the
short-term borrowings from the local banks in the PRC. There is an
arbitrage effect with such arrangement bringing net interest income to
the Group. The fixed deposit is transferrable to third parties.

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an individual legal entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which
companies comprising our Group domicile or operate.

(i) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act
of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman
Islands income tax.

(ii) BVI income tax

Under the current laws of the BVI, entities incorporated in BVI are
not subject to tax on their income or capital gains.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Income tax expense (Continued)
(iii) Hong Kong income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
Hong Kong has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2023, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The statutory tax rate was 16.5% for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. The first
HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

(iv) PRC corporate income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
the PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits for the years, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The
statutory tax rate was 25% for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Ningbo Kwung’s was qualified as a “High and New Technology
Enterprise” since 2008 and renewed its qualification in December
2023, and it is subject to a reduced preferential corporate income
rate of 15% from 2023 to December 2026 according to the tax
preference applicable to the High and New Technology Enterprise.

There was an increase in the Group’s income tax expense by
approximately RMB12.9 million or 345.9% to approximately RMB16.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
RMB3.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such increase
was mainly due to (i) the recognition of deferred tax liabilities arising
from the withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC; and (ii) the increase in profits of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The overall effective tax rate of the Group increased from approximately
6.6% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 21.5%
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The reasons for the increase in
the effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2023 was the
same as the reason disclosed above for the increase in the income tax
expense.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

The Group’s property plant and equipment mainly comprise net
carrying amounts of the construction costs for the buildings and
structures under construction, the office building, production plants,
machinery and the corresponding capitalised renovation costs. There
was a significant increase in the net carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment by approximately RMB112.0 million
during the year ended 31 December 2023 which was mainly due to the
costs capitalised for the construction of production facilities on a piece
of land located at the Sanshan Economic Development Zone of Wuhu
City, Anhui Province, the PRC, which was acquired by the Group in
2022.

Right-of-use assets

The Group’s right-of-use assets comprise net carrying amounts of
the prepaid land use rights for the lands used by the Group’s office
building and production plants, and also the net carrying amounts of
the properties leased by the Group.

There was a slight increase in balance of approximately RMB1.5 million
during the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to
the net effect of (i) the capitalised costs arising from the renewed leases
of several buildings located in Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC,
for the Group’s internal usage; and (i) the depreciation charge for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Investment properties

The Group’s investment properties represent the buildings located in
Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC, owned by the Group. Such
buildings are leased to independent third parties as warehouses. The
investment properties were subsequently disposed of in the first quarter
of 2024 to a connected person of the Company.

Inventories

The Group’s inventory balance comprises raw materials, work in
progress and finished goods for the Group’s candle products, home
fragrance products and home accessories products.

The inventories balance remained at a similar level as at 31 December
2023 as compared to 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables balance as at 31 December 2023 mainly represented
outstanding balance from the Group’s overseas customers. There
was an increase in trade receivables balance before allowance for
impairment of approximately RMB30.1 million or 24.2% from
approximately RMB124.1 million as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB154.2 million as at 31 December 2023. Such
increase is in line with the increase in the revenue of the Group for the
current year.

Most of the Group’s trade receivables balance were aged within 180
days. The Group experienced limited bad debt issues over the years and
a small provision for impairment of trade receivables of approximately
RMB3.0 million was recorded as at 31 December 2023, which is
calculated based on the expected credit loss percentage for the aged
trade receivables balance.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

The balance of prepayments, deposits and other receivables comprises
mainly advances to suppliers, recoverable value-added tax and deposits
paid.

There was an increase in the balance of approximately RMB11.3
million or 53.0% to approximately RMB32.7 million as at 31 December
2023 from approximately RMB21.4 million as at 31 December 2022.
The increase in balance was mainly due to an increase in recoverable
value-added tax as at 31 December 2023 as a result of an increase in
refundable value-added tax arising from the export sales closed to the
financial year end date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

The Group subscribes certain private funds in the PRC using idle cash
totalling RMB100 million during the year ended 31 December 2022. In
addition, the Group arranged foreign currency forward contracts and
currency swap contracts with commercial banks in the PRC in respect
of the exchange rate of RMB against USD in response to the Group’s
foreign exchange exposure arising from the sales to the Group’s
overseas customers, which was denominated in USD.

The Group made full redemption for the investments in private funds
and also the wealth management products during the year ended 31
December 2023. In addition, all foreign currency forwards contracts
and also the currency swap contracts expired during the year ended 31
December 2023, resulting in nil balance as at 31 December 2023.

Other current assets

Balance represented fixed deposits arranged with a local bank in the
PRC. Those fixed deposits are measured at fair values.

Cash and cash in bank

The balance of cash and cash in bank as at 31 December 2023
comprised cash deposited into financial institutions in the PRC and
Hong Kong, and also restricted cash maintained in financial institutions
in the PRC.

There was an increase in the balance of approximately RMB40.5 million
or 28.3% to approximately RMB183.8 million as at 31 December 2023
from approximately RMB143.2 million as at 31 December 2022. Such
increase in balance was mainly due to the net effect of the proceeds
from redemption of investment funds and also payments made for the
construction of production facilities in production base in Wuhu City,
Anhui Province, the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED T E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Trade and other payables

The balance of trade and other payables comprises mainly payables to
suppliers of raw materials, payables to contractors in relation to the
construction of production facilities in production base in Wuhu City,
Anhui Province, the PRC, and also payroll payables to the Group’s
employees.

There was an increase in the balance of approximately RMB84.8 million
or 100.7% to approximately RMB169.1 million as at 31 December
2023 from approximately RMB84.2 million as at 31 December 2022.
The change in balance was mainly due to some purchase of raw
materials close to the financial year end date and also some outstanding
payments in relation to the construction of production facilities in
production base in Wuhu City, Anhui Province, the PRC.

Lease liabilities

The balance of lease liabilities represents the present value of future
lease payments in respect of factory buildings leased by the Group.

There is an increase in the balance of approximately RMB0.9 million
to approximately RMB1.1 million as at 31 December 2023 from
approximately RMBO0.2 million as at 31 December 2022 as a result
of net effect of the new liabilities arising from some renewed lease
arrangements and also settlement to the lessors during the year ended
31 December 2023.

RECENT DEVELOPMENT

The Group has acquired a piece of land located at Sanshan Economic
Development Zone* (= ] & & 7 # [& ), Wuhu City, Anhui Province,
the PRC (the “Wuhu Site”), and has started the construction of
production facilities on top of the land. The total site area of the
land is approximately 96,000 sq.m. and there will be warehouses,
workshop buildings and staff quarters with a construction area of
approximately 87,000 sq.m. Such production facilities can bring a
better quality to the Group’s products with less reliance on outsourced
subcontracting work, especially for non-standard products. In addition,
the production facilities will be equipped with more advanced
machineries, achieving a more efficient production cycle. There will also
be a more comprehensive production lines for fragrance products. The
construction is still in progress and it is expected to be completed within
the year 2024 to release additional production capacities for supporting
the Group’s business growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

RECENT DEVELOPMENT (continued)

In addition, the Group subscribed interests in two investment funds in
the PRC totalling RMB100 million on 2 January 2024 funded by the
Group’s surplus cash reserves. The Directors are of the view that such
appropriate wealth management with low risk exposure is conducive to
enhancing the utilisation of capital and increase income from idle funds
of the Group.

Moreover, the Group has recently disposed of a subsidiary which mainly
owned a land-use rights and buildings (the “Properties”) and cash of
RMB1 million to a connected person of the Company at a consideration
of RMB47 million. Upon the completion of the construction of
production facilities mentioned above, it is considered not necessary to
continue to own the Properties and therefore they were disposed of
in exchange of liquidity to support the daily operation of the Group.
Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 30 January 2024 for
details.

FUTURE PLANS

In addition to setting up the Group’s self-owned production facilities
in the Wuhu Site as mentioned above, the Group is also exploring the
possibilities of setting up new production facilities overseas in response
to overseas market demands.

Having established a long term plan on the production capacity, the
Group is also actively expanding its customer base, including customers
from new geographical markets like the United States. The Group has
established a healthy and solid customer base with existing customers
and it is a good time for the Group to go further into new market and
secure new customers for the Group’s sustainable growth.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. JIN Jianxin (£ #5%£4), aged 58, is our executive Director,
chairman and the chief executive officer. He is our founder and joined
our Group in January 1999. He is responsible for executing board
resolutions, formulating business development plans and strategies and
overseeing the daily business operation of the Group. He is the uncle
of Mr. Tian Dong and brother-in-law of Mr. RU Liming, a substantial
Shareholder and former executive Director.

Mr. Jin has over 20 years of experience in the manufacturing, marketing
and selling of candle products. He has been the chairman of the board
of Ningbo Kwung’s since its establishment and is primarily responsible
for the overall management of Ningbo Kwung’s. Since 2016, he has
been appointed as the vice chairman of China Daily-use Chemical
Industry Association (Candle Division) (P BB Bt THeEE S ).

Mr. Jin graduated from Beijing International Studies University (1t R &
~4HMNEFBEEEBR) with a degree of bachelor of economics in July 1989.
He was awarded with the qualification of Senior Economist by the
Zhejiang Province Human Resources and Social Security Department (3
LB ANEBRMEERERE) in February 2011. In January 2014, he
was named as Culture New Zhejiang Entrepreneur (X /LT #) by the
Selection Committee of the Culture New Zhejiang Entrepreneur (31t
AT EERE).

Mr. Jin is also a director of Kwung’s Investments Limited, Kwung’s
Wisdom (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, Ningbo Kwung’s, Neobee Australia
Pty Ltd and Orient Radiance Co., Limited, all of which being subsidiaries
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. TIAN Dong (HH3R5E4), aged 44, is our executive Director. He is
responsible for overseeing the financial and capital operation of the
Group. He is the nephew of Mr. Jin.

Mr. Tian has been working in our Group for more than 19 years. He
joined our Group in 2004 as an office administrator of the performance
appraisal office of Ningbo Kwung’s and was promoted to supervisor of
the information system department of Ningbo Kwung’s in November
2008. Since November 2011, he has been working as the secretary
of the board of Ningbo Kwung’s and has been responsible for the
corporate governance, organisation of the directors’ and shareholders’
meetings of Ningbo Kwung’s. Mr. Tian has also served as the general
manager of the supply chain management centre and domestic sales
centre since December 2022.

Mr. Tian graduated from Zhejiang University of Science and Technology
(AT T BHE 8B ) with a degree of computer science and technology (&t
AL E M) in June 2002. He also obtained a master degree of
science in distributed systems and networks from University of Kent in
November 2004.

Mr. Tian is also a director of Ningbo Fenyuan, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EENSAREEE (&)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHAO Patrick (B85 %4 ), aged 58, is our non-executive Director.
Mr. Shao joined our Group as a director of Ningbo Kwung’s in June
2015. He is primarily responsible for formulating the business
development plans and strategies of our Group.

Mr. Shao has extensive experience in business strategies formulation,
business development and operation. From June 2005 to July 2015, he
was the vice general manager of Guangzhou Shi Xinli Metal Limited (&
NI 12 BAR AR, a brake pad friction materials manufacturing
company and was primarily responsible for the development of new
products and formulation of business strategies of the company.
Currently, he is the vice general manager and director of human
resources department of Zhangjiagang Xinli Metal Limited (3R X &
& BAR QA a PRC company engaging in the manufacturing
of brake pad friction materials. He is responsible for formulating the
business strategies and overseeing the daily operation of the company.

Mr. Shao graduated from Peking University (1t 5 A 2) with a degree
of bachelor of Chinese Literature in July 1989.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAl Chun Yu (BIRF 5% 4), aged 47, is our independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 16 December 2019. He is responsible for
providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Lai has more than 20 years of experience in the area of accounting,
auditing and financial management. From July 2000 to December
2003, he worked as an accountant in Ernst & Young. From August
2005 to June 2007, he worked as a financial controller of Qin Jia Yuan
Media Services Company Limited (presently known as SMI Culture &
Travel Group Holdings Limited), a media services provider listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2366), and was primarily responsible
for assisting in the budget preparation, treasury, internal control and
investor relation matter of the company. From May 2009 to June 2017,
he worked as a company secretary of Amber Energy Limited (presently
known as Puxing Energy Limited), a clean energy provider in the PRC
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 90), and was responsible
for assisting in the listing and corporate governance matters of the
company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Mr. Lai obtained a degree of bachelor of business (accountancy)
from Queensland University of Technology in August 1999. Mr. Lai
has become a Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia since
November 2002. He was admitted as a certified public accountant of
HKICPA in January 2004 and has become a fellow member of HKICPA
since 2010.

Mr. Lai has held directorship in the following listed company in Hong
Kong in the last three years:

Principal business
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Period Name of entity activities Position held Responsibilities
il ERER TEEBTED EENRL BE
October 2019 - Present  Tailam Tech Construction Holdings Manufacture and sale Independent non- Providing independent
Limited (stock code: 6193) of concrete piles and executive director advice to the board of
commercial concrete the company
in the PRC
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EENSAREEE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Ms. XU Qiong (#&#8 % 1), aged 56, is our independent non-executive
Director. She was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 19 April 2022. She is responsible for providing independent advice
to our Board.

Ms. Xu has over 10 years of experience in financial and local tax
advisory service in the PRC. Ms. Xu is currently the major shareholder
and the chairlady of the board of directors of Ningbo Huihao Tax Agent
Company Limited (%8 )i I& & % 7% B == 7% FT B BR 2 7)) and Ningbo
Yinzhou Pengyi Enterprise Management Consulting Company Limited
(BRTEMNRECEERZANBRAA).

Ms. XU graduated from the Correspondence Institute of the Party
School of the Communist Party of China (¥ # e st B # K% ZE7) in
2000, majoring in political science and law. Ms. Xu is a registered tax
agent in the PRC.

Mr. ZHOU Kai (A&l % 4), aged 51, is our independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 16 December 2019. He is responsible for providing independent
advice to our Board.

Mr. Zhou has more than 10 years of experience in the area of financial
development and regulations. The following table sets forth the

working experience of Mr. Zhou:

Principal business
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Period Name of entity activities Position held Responsibilities
HE ERER FTEXBED BENBL BE
August 2023 - Present Ningbo Yinzhou Rural Commercial Bank  Bank Independent non- Responsible for
Co., Ltd executive director governance of the
bank
202358 AZHM ERGMENBRRITRNDBRART  RIT BUFHITES BERTHER

July 2023 - Present Ningbo Gaofa Automotive Control Manufacturing of

Independent non- Responsible for corporate

System Co., Ltd automotive parts and executive director governance
accessories
2023F7 AERKE BRREAELNZGRNERAR AESHHREFRE BUFNTEES BELARE

24 KWUNG’S HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ Annual Report 2023



INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Principal business

EERE&

EEE(®)

BYFHITEEw

Period Name of entity activities Position held Responsibilities

HE ERER TEXBED BENRL BE

November 2021 - Present  Ningbo Yuyao Rural Commercial Bank ~ Bank Supervisor Supervising and checking
Co., Ltd

2021511 AEBRKE ERRRENBEERTROBRAR RiT EF EBNBE

June 2021 - Present Changyuan (Ningbo) Technology Management consulting  Executive director Company operation
Development Co., Ltd.

2021 F6 AERK FR(BER) MRERBRAF BRI HITES REEE

December 2020 - Present  Ningbo Yongcheng Rural Commercial ~ Bank Independent non- Responsible for
Bank Limited executive director governance of the

bank
20205 12 RERE ERBRENEERTROBRAR  RT BAUFRTESF BERTHER

September 2020 - Present

2020%F9 AE B K

May 2018 - Present

2018F5 2R

January 2020 - June 2021

202001 HE2021%6 A

Ningbo Zhongchun High-tech Co., Ltd.

BRPEERRHBERAAF

Ningbo Zhenhai Rural Commercial Bank
Co., Ltd

BERMERRABARRTRNER

A7

DeHeng Law Offices (Ningbo)
(RBE(BR) EZMEBAH)

EREBE(BR) RAEHH

Non metallic mineral
products industry

FEBBEBMHME

Bank

R1T

Law firm

e

Independent non-
executive director
BUkHTES

Independent non-
executive director

BUFRTES

Lawyer

e

Wit ZRARD R

Providing independent
advice to the Board
BEARESSRMEEY

ER

Responsible for
governance of the
bank

BERTNER

Providing legal advices to
clients in the area of
corporate governance
and financial activities
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EENSAREEE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Principal business

BYFHITEE @

Period Name of entity activities Position held Responsibilities
HE ERER TEXBED BENRL BE
April 2018 Zhejiang Jinzong Law Firm Law firm Lawyer Providing legal advices to
~ December 2019 (L& RERMEH) clients in the area of
corporate governance
and financial activities
018F47F WL RERME P BRI (e REFRHELEER
2019512 TREDEBNER
ER
November 2012 The Financial Affairs Office of Ningbo ~ Government authority ~ Deputy director Formulating and
-July 2017 Municipal Government organising the
(BERTARBHSRIERRE) implementation of the
development plans
of the local capital
market; supervising
the financial activities
in the district
01F11AF ERTARBRERIERAE B 8 BlFE HERBRETEHE
2017478 RGN ERERE L
EENRNERED
December 2008 The Financial Affairs Office of Yinzhou, ~ Government authority ~ Director Formulating and
- November 2012 District Government, Ningbo organising the
(ERTEMRARBGERIE implementation of the
BAE) development plans
of the local financial
market; supervising
the financial activities
in the district
2008F 12 A% ERTHMNEARBGERIE B 7 FE HERBRETELS
2012411 A NS BISNERAER
EENRNERED

Mr. Zhou graduated from Nanjing University (& 5 A Z2) with a degree
of bachelor of political science in the school of political science and
public administration in July 1994. He also obtained a master degree
of public administration from The Australian National University in July
2004. Mr. Zhou was admitted as a lawyer in the PRC in June 2000.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EENSNEEE (&)

COMPANY SECRETARY NAME
Mr. LAU Chung Wai (2Il{## % %) is our company secretary. BEEE  RATIWE -
Mr. Lau has over 19 years of experience in accounting and finance. The Rl 4A NSt MK EHEA B 19FKLER -
following table sets forth the working experience of Mr. Lau: TRETNBSEENTIEER -
Period Name of entity Principal business activities Position held
il BEEEE TEXRED EENRL
August 2015 Da Sen Holdings Group Limited Manufacture and sale of plywood Chief financial officer and company
-March 2019 (stock code: 1580) products and biomass wood pellets secretary
20158 AZF2019%38 ARZREEERAAF HERHEBARERRARENE ERUBERDAUE
(B3R - 1580) RERL
May 2013 Passion Art International Holdings Manufacture and sale of furniture and ~ Group financial controller
-July 2015 Limited home decoration products
2013F58% Passion Art International Holdings SERHERRRRERSR EEMBRE
20157 A Limited
September 2011 Starcom Worldwide, a subsidiary of Media agency Finance manager
- April 2013 Publicis Groupe SA, a company listed

on the Euronext Paris
(stock code: PUB.PA)

0MEIA/ZE Starcom Worldwide * % 72 &) % Publicis B2 g r 3L
20134 7 Groupe SARIIB R F - REEZ
BREFRSM LT
(A5 - PUB.PA)
September 2004 - Ernst & Young Assurance Manager of assurance department
September 2011 (last position)
2004F9RFE R G B BT R Bet RIS EPA I8 (R AR BAL)
2011594

Mr. Lau graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and 24420044 11 ARENEBRIAZ
Technology with a bachelor of business administration in accounting in B T B I8 (& 5) 2+ 847 %% 2008
November 2004. He was admitted as a certified public accountant of &1 AEREESHAMASHESHANE
HKICPA in January 2008 and has become a fellow member of HKICPA 1% - E2015F5 AL AT B St A S E

=

since May 2015. REE o

0

K

WitERERAT —Bo=FFH% 2/



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“the
year” or “the year under review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note
13 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”),
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set
out on pages 10 to 19 of this annual report. This discussion forms part
of this report of the directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the Group’s
audited financial statements on pages 61 to 167.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023.

A special dividend of HK7 cents per ordinary share was approved by the
Shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting held on 17 January
2023 and was paid on 3 February 2023. In addition, another special
dividend of HK5 cents per ordinary share was declared by the Board
and paid on 5 December 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 168 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the Group’s audited consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of the subsidiaries of the Company
purchased, redeemed or sold the listed securities of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
(as revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB206,813,000.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
RMB2,050,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 71% of the total sales for the year
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 23%.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the total purchases for the year.

BEEgHRE @)

MBERBE

AEEBENEAVBFENDTIEEE &
ERBENHBERIREEEBRMBERE
WHRAFRFE 168 « It B THERA
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m AR 13
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEEEHRE @A)

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Chairman and executive Director

Mr. JIN Jianxin

Executive Director

Mr. TIAN Dong

Non-executive Director

Mr. SHAO Patrick

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. LAl Chun Yu
Ms. XU Qiong
Mr. ZHOU Kai

Mr. JIN Jianxin and Mr. ZHOU Kai will retire in accordance with articles
108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles and they being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
FROM INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has assessed the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors and considered that all independent non-executive
Directors still remain independent to the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remunerations are determined by the Board with reference to
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. JIN Jianxin, an executive
Director, and Mr. SHAO Patrick, the non-executive Director, have
waived their emoluments granted by the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in
force for an indemnity against certain liabilities incurred by Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEEEHRE @A)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

The Group entered into a number of tenancy agreements (the “Tenancy
Agreements”) with Ningbo Jingxiang to lease certain properties in
the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2023. Please refer to the
section headed CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
below for details.

Ningbo Jingxiang is principally engaged in property management and
agency service in the PRC. The properties covered by the Tenancy
Agreements are indirectly owned by Mr. JIN Jianxin (£ 2 %), an
executive Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, and
Ningbo Jingxiang has been engaged as an agent to manage the leasing
matters of the properties covered by the Tenancy Agreements.

Save as disclosed above, no Director nor a connected entity of a
Director had interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive in the share capital and underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code, were as follows:

EERRG  RHAESHHH
B

AEBREEZ2023F 12 A3 HILFEEHEE
BEHITvZhHAERZ (HEHRE] -
DHEEVRAENETYE - FBEH2ET
NIBENREBALTRS]—F -

BERRHETERNTENENEEELKE
RIGEY -HEHEMBREMERARRA
WITESRERBRSEMCERERES
MENSHFCERELSRE  NEEBER
BTAEMENHEESE -

BREXHIBEEEIN EFAESNHETR
BENARR ~ AR BEM KB A RIKEF
EMBRARMER— T RFRNILHAEE
EBMEBEANETARS  KHFHAELHT
BER S EEEA L -

EERFETHRAERKRS
HEROKEEENERR

NP
RB

R2023F 12 A31MH BEERFTETHAR
EERLIRIEES R E KRN E 352 &R A
TRtk ARBRETRBSITHAE AR R
BTz AN ABI S EREEZE (EERESH
MR GBI FE XV ER) 2 B AN AR B AR D R (&
BEFERZEZNMABIT ¢

Long positions in Shares ROBER
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Name of Directors Note Shares held share capital
ERDAREZ
Esps it BEROHE BA
JIN Jianxin (a) 239,766,000 59.20%

SEM
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Note:

(@ 239,766,000 Shares of the Company, representing approximately 59.20% of the
total number of issued Shares, were held by Golden Element Investment Limited
which in turn was held as to 99.99% by Golden Existence Investment Limited. Golden
Existence Investment Limited was held as to 100% by Equiom Fiduciary Services
(Hong Kong) Limited which is the trustee of a family trust set up by Mr. Jin who can
influence how the trustee exercises its discretion in the trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
and chief executive had registered an interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group had 567 employees in the PRC, Australia and Hong Kong
as at 31 December 2023. The total salaries and related costs granted
to employees amounted to approximately RMB83.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Group’s remuneration policy, bonus and share option scheme
determines benefits of employees (including Directors) based on
the duties and performance of each individuals. The Group has also
participated in the mandatory provident fund retirement benefit
scheme in Hong Kong, and the central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government in the PRC. The Group arranges trainings
necessary to employees for performing their duties.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include
full-time or part-time employee of the Company or any member of
the Group, including any executive Director, non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Director, adviser and consultant of the
Group or any subsidiaries of the Company. The Scheme is effective for
a period of ten years commencing on 16 January 2020, after which
period no further options may be granted but the provisions of the
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects and
options granted during the life of the Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

BEEgHRE @)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEEEHRE @A)

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 40,000,000 Shares. The maximum number of Shares
issuable under the Scheme to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the Shares in issue as
of the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial Shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the Board in its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10
years after it has been granted. No option may be granted more than
10 years after the date of approval of the Scheme. Subject to earlier
termination by our Company in general meeting or by our Board, the
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date of its adoption. There is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Scheme shall be such price as our Board in its
absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be less
than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities; (ii) the average of the official closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five Shares trading days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option will not carry
voting rights until completion of the registration of the grantee (or any
other person) as the holder thereof. Subject to the aforesaid, Shares
allotted and issued on the exercise of options will rank pari passu in all
respects and shall have the same voting, dividend, transfer and other
rights, including those arising on liquidation as attached to the other
fully paid Shares in issue on the date of issue.

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any of the Directors or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. JIN Jianxin, an executive Director and a substantial Shareholder was
interested in contracts for the lease of certain properties to the Group.
Further details of the transactions undertaken in connection therewith
are included in the section headed CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS below.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEEEHRE @A)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following interests and short positions
of 5% or more of the share capital and share options of the Company
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in Shares

FERRREMALIRES K
HEROWEZER AR

720

2312 A31H @ LFMEARRQ F AR A &

BERRAE 5% Sk M E 2 HEaS B R RN E
REEIGE0IE 336 RRE AR RBTELE
HERMA -

R KR

Capacity Percentage of
and nature Number of the Company’s
Name Notes of interest Shares held share capital
HEAATRRAE
2/ MHE WiE SORERME BERGHE ZHETH®
CHEN Jiangyan (a) Interest of spouse 239,766,000 59.20%
REE Bl B =
Golden Element Investment Limited (b) Beneficial owner 239,766,000 59.20%
Golden Element Investment Limited ExnEEA
Golden Existence Investment Limited (b) Interest of controlled corporation 239,766,000 59.20%
Golden Existence Investment Limited THEEER
Equiom Fiduciary Services (Hong Kong) (b) Trustee 239,766,000 59.20%
Limited
Equiom Fiduciary Services (Hong Kong) FEA
Limited
RU Liming (0 Interest of controlled corporation 54,102,857 13.36%
] XEEEER
DMA Limited (0 Beneficial owner 54,102,857 13.36%
EIHERAT EnBEBA
Notes: Hiqz

(a) Ms. CHEN Jiangyan is the spouse of Mr. JIN Jianxin and therefore is deemed to be (a)
interested in all the Shares Mr. JIN Jianxin is interested in under the SFO.

(b) 239,766,000 Shares of the Company, representing approximately 59.20% of the (b)
total number of issued Shares, were held by Golden Element Investment Limited
which in turn was held as to 99.99% by Golden Existence Investment Limited. Golden
Existence Investment Limited was held as to 100% by Equiom Fiduciary Services (Hong
Kong) Limited which is the trustee of a family trust set up by Mr. JIN Jianxin, who can
influence how the trustee exercises its discretion in the trust.

(0) DMA Limited is owned as to 80.70% by Mr. RU Liming and Mr. RU Liming is deemed (c)
to be interested in the 54,102,857 Shares owned by DMA Limited under the SFO.

36
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person, other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in Shares and underlying shares and debentures” above,
had registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Connected transactions

On 28 February 2023, Ningbo Kwung’s entered into a tenancy
agreement with Ningbo Jingxiang to lease a property in the PRC. The
lease term is from 1 March 2023 to 31 May 2024 and the total rent is
RMB824,400.

In addition, on 30 April 2023, Ningbo Kwung’s entered into another
tenancy agreement with Ningbo Jingxiang to lease certain properties in
the PRC. The lease term is from 1 May 2023 to 31 July 2024 and the
total rent is RMB4,925,827.50.

In addition, on 30 April 2023, Ningbo Fenyuan entered into a tenancy
agreement with Ningbo Jingxiang to lease certain properties in the PRC.
The lease term is from 1 May 2023 to 31 July 2024 and the total rent is
RMB1,286,028.

Ningbo Jingxiang is wholly owned by Mr. RU Jin (ZA%&). Mr. RU Jin is
the son of Mr. RU Liming (ZA%287), a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and therefore Ningbo Jingxiang is a connected person of the
Company.

For details of the connected transactions, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 2 May 2023.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
under the applicable accounting standards for preparing the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and as disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transaction that is subject to, among other
things, the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the
Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEEEHRE @A)

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total
number of issued Shares were held by the public as at 31 December
2023.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers retire and a resolution for their reappointment
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

JIN Jianxin
Chairman

Hong Kong 28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Save as the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with the applicable code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition
As at 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this report, the Board
comprises six Directors, including two executive Directors, one non-

executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIN Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. TIAN Dong

Non-executive Director

Mr. SHAQ Patrick

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. LAl Chun Yu
Ms. XU Qiong
Mr. ZHOU Kai
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
TtEERRE (&)

Board meetings, board committee meetingsand EEZ22% EBEEZES2ENX

general meetings REXE

The attendance of each Director for the Board meetings, board &EZHENEE2023F12A31BIEFE
P

committee meetings and general meetings held during the year ended BT EEe@# HELESCHLRE

31 December 2023 is set out in the following table: REZFBHINAT -

Meeting attended/meetings eligible to attend
SRLERY/ AERLEEERRY

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Shareholders’

Directors B2 Board committee committee committee meetings

EZg ENZEE ¥Mzeg RE#ZEE BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
JIN Jianxin E Ll 414 NA TR /1 /1 Wy
TIAN Dong AR 4/4 N/A MR 1N n 212
Non-executive Director FHTES
SHAOQ Patrick B¥ 4/4 33 N/A T8 N/A N 12
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
LAl Chun Yu PRF 4/4 33 17 /1 2
XU Qiong 3 33 N/A TR N/A TR N 2
ZHOU Kai s 414 313 n N/A TR W
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The board diversity policy sets out the objective and approach to
achieve and maintain diversity of the Board of the Company.

With the objective of enhancing the effectiveness of the Board and
maintaining the high standard of corporate governance, the Company
recognises increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will
include and make good use of differences in a number of aspects,
including but not limited to professional experience, gender, age,
cultural and education background, knowledge, ethnicity and length
of service and any other factors that the Board might consider relevant
and applicable from time to time in order to achieve board diversity.
These differences will be considered in determining the optimum
composition of the Board and, when possible, should be balanced
appropriately. All Board appointments will be based on merit and the
contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
Candidates will be considered against objective criteria, with due regard
for the benefits of the diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to professional experience
and qualifications, gender, age, cultural and education background,
knowledge, ethnicity, skills, industry experience and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The nomination committee
of the Company will discuss and agree annually all measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and recommend them to
the Board for adoption.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprises five male Directors and
one female Director. As at 31 December 2023, approximately 68% of
the Group’s employees (including senior management) are female and
32% are male.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Chairman and chief executive

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
should be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual. However, we do not have a separate chairman and chief
executive and Mr. JIN Jianxin currently performs these two roles.
Throughout our business history, Mr. Jin, being a founder of our Group
and a controlling Shareholder, has held the key leadership position
of our Group and has been deeply involved in the formulation of
corporate strategies and management of the business and operations
of our Group since its establishment. Taking into account the consistent
leadership within our Group, our Board believes that it is in the best
interests of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole to have Mr. Jin
taking up both roles for effective and efficient overall strategic planning
and continuation of the implementation of such plans for our Group.
Our Board considers that the balance of power and authority under
the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable our Company to make and implement decisions promptly and
effectively. Save as disclosed in this section, our Company has complied
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

Roles and responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group,
and delegates day-to-day operations to the management team of the
Group. The Board provides directions to the management team by
laying down strategies and plans, and then oversees the implementation
performed by the management team. The Board also timely monitor
the Group’s operational and financial performance through monthly
reports prepared by the management of the Group.

The Board also reviews the compensation policies, succession planning,
internal control system and risk management system regularly through
various committees established under the Board.

Code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all Directors have

confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Terms of appointment of non-executive Directors

Each of the non-executive and independent non-executive Directors has
signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a period of three
years, renewable automatically for successive terms of one year each
commencing from the day following the expiry of the then current term
of appointment, unless terminated by either the Company or each of
the non-executive and independent non-executive Directors by giving at
least three months’ notice in writing at the end of the aforementioned
three-year term and any time thereafter.

The table set forth below summarises the annual remuneration for each
of the non-executive and independent non-executive Directors:
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Director ! FEEH M
Mr. SHAO Patrick B E RMB8,000
AR#8,0007T

Mr. LAl Chun Yu RIRF A& HKD 180,000
180,0007%8 7T

Ms. XU Qiong E3:-kegun RMB80,000
AR #80,000 7T

Mr. ZHOU Kai Bl E RMB80,000
AR #80,0007T

Nomination Policy

The nomination committee of the Company makes recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors, and
succession planning for Directors.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the nomination committee of the Company
shall consider a variety of factors including without limitation the
following in assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

(@) reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant
industry and other relevant sectors;

() commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to
the Company’s business;
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diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge;

the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success;

compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an
independent non-executive Director; and

any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
nomination committee of the Company or the Board from time to
time.

Board committees

The Company currently has three committees established under the
Board, which are listed as follows:

Audit committee

Remuneration committee

Nomination committee

Audit committee

The role and function of the audit committee of the Company is
summarised below:

Relationship with the Company’s external auditor

44

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor;

to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor;

to consider any questions of resignation or dismissal of that
auditor;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

e  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

e  to discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

e to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor
to supply non-audit services;

e  to report to the Board, identifying and making recommendations
on any matters where action or improvement is needed; and

e to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor.

Review of the Company’s financial information

e to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual
report, interim report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them; and

e to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
review, if applicable, and final audits, and any matters the external
auditor may wish to discuss (in the absence of management where
necessary).

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems

e to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management and
internal control systems;

e to discuss the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have effective systems;

e to consider major findings from investigations on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and management’s response to these findings;
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where an internal audit function exists,

(a) to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors;

(b) to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company;
and

(c) to review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the external auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter;

to review the Company’s statement on internal control systems
(where one is included in the annual report) prior to endorsement
by the Board;

to report to the Board on the matters in the code provision under
the Corporate Governance Code;

to consider any other matters specifically referred to the audit
committee by the Board including but not limited to the following:

(@) to review the internal controls and risk management
systems of the Company, including the internal controls on
bank account management and the monitoring of bank
transactions on a quarterly basis in order to detect and
prevent improper bank activities and transactions;

(b) to review the report on bank account activities, material bank
transactions and all incoming wire transfers on a quarterly

basis to detect irregularities;

(c) toreport irregularities (if any) to the Board immediately;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(d) to review arrangements by which employees of the
Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters. The audit committee should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for the fair and independent
investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up
action; and

(e) to review the findings of the Company’s internal audit
division from time to time.

The audit committee is currently chaired by Mr. LAl Chun Yu, an
independent non-executive Director, and the other members of the
audit committee are Mr. SHAO Patrick, a non-executive Director, and
Mr. ZHOU Kai, an independent non-executive Director.

Remuneration committee

The role and function of the remuneration committee of the Company
is summarised below:

e to establish and review the Company’s policy and structure of the
remuneration for Directors and senior management and make
recommendations to the Board on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

e to determine, with delegated responsibility, the specific
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, or to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management;

e to make recommendations to the Board on employee benefit
arrangement;

e  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

e to consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based
remuneration;

e to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;
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e  to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair
and not excessive for the Company;

e to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment is
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

e  to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration and that, as regards the
remuneration of a non-executive Director who is a member of the
committee, his/her remuneration should be determined by the
other members of the committee;

e  to advise Shareholders of the Company with respect to any service
contracts of Directors that require Shareholders’ approval under
the Listing Rules; and

e  to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The remuneration committee is currently chaired by Mr. ZHOU Kai,
an independent non-executive Director and the other members of the
remuneration committee are Mr. JIN Jianxin, an executive Director and
Mr. LAl Chun Yu, an independent non-executive Director.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Nomination committee

The role and function of the nomination committee of the Company is
summarised below:

° to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
but not limited to the skills, knowledge, gender, age, ethnicity,
cultural and educational background, professional experience
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and to
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy of the
Company;

e toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals for nomination of directorships of the
Company;

e to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

e  to advise the Board on the following issues on the selection of
an individual to be nominated as an independent non-executive
Director:

(@) the process used for identifying the individual and why the
individual should be elected and the reasons why it considers
the individual to be independent;

(b) if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the individual would still be able to devote sufficient
time to the Board;

() the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

(d) how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board;

e to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment or removal of
directors of the Company and succession planning for directors
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company;
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to implement and review the Board diversity policy of the
Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”); recommend any
revisions of the Board Diversity Policy to the Board; review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress on achieving the
objectives;

disclose the Board Diversity Policy or a summary of such policy,
in particular, the measurable objectives that it has set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy and the progress on
achieving these objectives and its review results in the Company’s
corporate governance report annually; and

to review and disclose the policy for nomination of directors
implemented, as appropriate, and a summary of the work during
the year in the Company’s corporate governance report annually.

The nomination committee is currently chaired by Ms. XU Qiong, an
independent non-executive Director, and the other members of the
nomination committee are Mr. JIN Jianxin, an executive Director and
Mr. LAl Chun Yu, an independent non-executive Director.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the auditor of

the

Company in respect of the audit of the consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. No
non-audit services have been provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers to
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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An analysis of the fees paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers
in relation to services rendered to the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 is as follows:

TEERRE (@)

B KESAMEHTNE 220234
NRAJNBEFEMAEERHEZREME
RERESNZEASTOT

RMB’000

AREF T

Audit services ZE RS 1,810
Non-audit services IEZE RS -
1,810

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may consider declaring and paying dividends to the
Shareholders by taking into account the factors set out below. Such
declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall remain to
be determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the
requirements under all applicable laws, rules and regulations as well as
the Articles.

When considering whether to declare any dividends and determining
the dividend amount, the Board shall take into consideration, inter alia,
the following factors:

(@) results of operation;

(b) cash flows;

(c) financial condition;

(d) future business prospects;

(e) statutory and contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends;
and

(f)  any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if any, with respect
to the Company’s Shares on a per share basis.
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions
and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board for a financial year or period as interim dividend,
final dividend, special dividend and any distribution of net profits that
appear to the Board to be justified by the profits of the Company
available for distribution. Except in the case of interim dividend, any
dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an ordinary
resolution of Shareholders at an annual general meeting and must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate, subject to and in
accordance with the procedures set out in the Articles.

The Company will continually review the dividend policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the policy at any time. The policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount and in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders can at any time raise enquiries to the Board. The enquiries
must be in writing with contact information of the Shareholder(s) and
deposited at the principal place of business of Company in Hong Kong
at Unit 1102, 11th Floor, Brill Plaza, No. 84 To Kwa Wan Road, To Kwa
Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary
of the Company.

In addition, any one or more duly registered holder of the Shares
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified and putting forward proposals
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Overall, the Company considers the above Shareholders’
communication policy of the Group implemented and conducted during
the year to be effective. The Company will continue to review the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication
policy by Shareholders’ feedback from the above channel.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Except for the adoption of the Articles, there is no significant changes
in the constitutional documents of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks the Company is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Board oversees management in
the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board acknowledges that such risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board confirms that it has conducted a review of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023. The review was performed by the internal
audit team.

The Board concludes, based on the result of the review, that the
risk management and internal control systems currently in place are
adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the risk
management and internal control systems will be performed annually.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Kwung’s Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Kwung’s Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on

pages 61 to 167, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
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material accounting policy information and other explanatory K R H AR E L
information.
PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong LTI A i MFFBS T Bl B TR A
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com M - +8522289 8888 - ¥ : +852 2810 9888 - www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

OP'N'ON (Continued)
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BIZEMEKE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to

revenue recognition on wholesale transactions as follows:

Key Audit Matter
BREITER

FREITEE @)

REZPHBNOEBIRELSIERRANBREET
EIEMT :

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHWETNAEEREESE

Revenue recognition — wholesale transactions

WAERE - MR E

Refer to Note 3.1.8 and Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ALHREVBERRME3 1.8 RMET

Revenue of the Group from wholesale transactions for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is RMB800 million.
Revenue from wholesale transactions is recognised when
control of the underlying products has been transferred
to the customers.
EXEBZE2023F12A31BIEFEREHERTHZ
WAR/ARKEBOBESTL - REHER HZ WA
BHEMZHRCERERPEH®R -

We focus on revenue from wholesale transactions due to
the high volume of sales, and thus significant audit time
and resources were devoted in this area.
BMEFREMBIHG 2B ARHRIEEEEKX
MR EEHIRARESZFTRERER
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We understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
management’s key controls over revenue recognition
in respect of the Group’s wholesale transactions, from
approval of customer orders, all the way to settlement of
trade receivables.
BMAEEENRERIRBMETET R  TET
RETEENHARPITERAEE HENFIELE K
AR BRI o

We conducted testing for revenue wholesale transactions
on a sample basis by examining the relevant supporting
documents, including sales contracts or customer orders,
sales invoices, shipping documents, customs declaration
forms for export sales, and cash collections.

B RmEEL BEREREEIEXH 81 i
EANAFEPAE HEERE MEXMH HOHEHE
BEARHRERRBSWE - HWABRBEZFETAR -

We performed confirmation procedures on selected
customers’ receivable balances at the balance sheet
date and on selected customers’ revenue transaction
amounts during the year.
BMEREEBBRAMZETR P EUGIAERTE R
FRNEERPHWAR ZREETHRERR

We tested wholesale transactions that took place before
and after the balance sheet date to assess whether the
transactions were recognised in the appropriate reporting
period based on the supporting documents obtained.

BMEEERBERBHAIRETOREIZETAH
DAARIRFTIS o8 X AT 2 5 = BB E WS SR -

Based on our work performed, we found the revenue
wholesale transactions tested were supported by the
relevant evidence that we gathered.

ERBITOIR - HMEER - RAOKENERBEEE
XFBEAFRMBARERS o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
Kwung’s Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report (the “annual report”)
(but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon), which is expected to be made available to us
after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the other information to be included in the annual
report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

BIZEE®RE (&)

Htu 8

BEQRETAHHMEEAT - HUWEER
EEEIER AR AT 2023FEER ([E8H)])
FMERMAEEL ENBREAVEHRER
R B RD RS o FEHIE S5 15 70 AR A% B
WERRBESHMBER -

BAHGEAVBRENBERL NRERM
B B TEYZFEMESEREIMATY
AEEE R -

FBARMEEEMBRERNET > HAINE
TR A BUS £ XAt Bl /9 E b (5 B K B
BHMES - HUBRT  EREMEER
BHGEAMBHRRAKMEEBETRH
THROBAGEEAEBEREUTFES
REERBL 1B ©

ERMHESE/REFRANEMBERR
MRBEARBEPFEERERRL - R
FENAHFREEZZBSAR UER
BFIHSERENMEFRREVEE T

EERERZEENGREMH
BREARENERE

ERREZRAEREEEGMAEMR
R BB P RS EL) REECRBED)
MR TR E RS R BT B RS S HRE
THERRREEEBBEREROBETF
ERNERGFHERMEIMMEAHRBR M
ENRESZEHRE -

EfBmEEVMBHRRE EFRANEES
BRFELENE ) YEERBR T RER
FEBKEAHNEER  UREAKELER
SRER  BAREFTHAEHEREBERNE
g2 - P EEMERMNERTSR -

ENZBERAREEESENMBERE

WtERERAT —To=FFH 5/



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BIZEMEKE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BIYZEE®RE (®)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mang, Kwong Fung Frederick.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEaREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Wt ARET T ARBEF T
Revenue WA 7 806,551 718,675
Cost of sales SHE R A 8 (644,419) (584,280)
Gross profit ER 162,132 134,395
Administrative expenses THRAX 8 (77,538) (66,062)
Selling and marketing expenses HE M HMAY 8 (27,919) (24,447)
Net impairment losses on financial assets 4 g% & & Jil (8 /&5 18 )% 58 22,23 (1,243) (354)
Other income H b Uz 10 4,024 6,364
Other gains — net Hih iz 588 11 19,391 8,000
Operating profit KRR 78,847 57,896
Finance income B 75 U 2 2,397 1,925
Finance costs B 75 X AR (3.788) (3,447)
Finance costs — net B PKAN -5 58 12 (1,391) (1,522)
Profit before income tax B it 15 B¢ A % A 77,456 56,374
Income tax expense FriSfiF X 14 (16,659) (3,736)
Profit for the year FERER 60,797 52,638
Profit attributable to: AT (& T
— Owners of the Company —ARAREBA 60,645 52,605
- Non-controlling interests —FEIERR S 152 33
Other comprehensive loss Hitt2HEE
Items that may be reclassified GEE A B A E B2
subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation of &GN 2 [E 5 =45
foreign operations 58 122
Total comprehensive income FRAXEKREEAE
for the year 60,855 52,760
T IER AR AR ZECZEFR 61



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
mEeEsRkREMEZEKRER @#)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLEE

2022
2022 5
Note RMB’000
g3 AREFTT
Total comprehensive income IATHA ARG ZZ2E
attributable to: Weas 4 s
— Owners of the Company . NCIEF SN 60,692 52,702
- Non-controlling interests —IEIE AR 163 58
Cents
)
Earnings per share for profit RAREE ABIG ZHF
attributable to owners of the ZEBREN(ZEER
Company (expressed in RMB AR¥RT)
per share)
- Basic and diluted —EARREE 15 15.0 13.0

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other X448 825 % H i 2 U s 5k FE B RS FT
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the  BfsE—fFRIE -
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI K

As at 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
it ARET T ARBFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRR 16 164,801 52,778
Investment properties wEYE 17 7,159 7,536
Right-of-use assets PREEE 19 38,610 37,097
Intangible assets B EE 18 5,642 4,597
Deferred income tax assets RIERMEHERE 32 1,149 72
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 217,361 102,080
Current assets REEE
Inventories g 21 68,653 66,061
Trade receivables H 5l E 22 151,192 120,661
Prepayments, deposits and other TANFIE - ke kEM
receivables B UL FR I8 23 32,662 21,350
Financial assets at fair value through ~ #ZRAFEF ABzEZ
profit or loss EREE 24 - 103,975
Other current assets HitmEEE 25 100,590 105,000
Cash and cash in bank Be RiR1TTIRE 26 183,765 143,221
Total current assets RBEELAE 536,862 560,268
Total assets EEHAE 754,223 662,348
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners of AT EEAELESR
the Company
Share capital [ 27 359 359
Share premium 1% 17 5 (B 27 206,813 249,653
Other reserves H b EE 28 (13,555) (20,846)
Retained earnings REB R 251,143 197,742
444,760 426,908
Non-controlling interests FEERER 795 632
Total equity R 445,555 427,540
WERERAT T -FEFEH 63



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
mEBBRRER@®E)

As at 31 December 2023 7220234 12 A31H

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
it ARET T ARBFT
Liabilities a&
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R FIE K H A N FRIE 29 169,055 84,225
Borrowings RS 30 90,000 135,000
Contract liabilities EHaE 7 6,337 6,219
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFT SRR B 1 7,505 4,055
Lease liabilities HERE 317 1,122 201
Financial liabilities at fair value through & AF{Ext ABw 2
profit or loss 2B E 24 - 4,972
Deferred income tax liability BLEFTBMEE 32 8,649 136
Total current liabilities BB ERTE 282,668 234,808
Non-current liabilities FRBERE = -
Borrowings EEN 30 26,000 -
Total liabilities BERE 308,668 234,808
Total equity and liabilities EBEREEAR 754,223 662,348

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read | X454 B 755k i 5= FE ERBEFT [T 53 — GFRD:E -
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 61 to 167 were & 3R FECIR167TBEZEA T BEHRERE D
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and were signed 202443 A28 BEE E& iz - Wi T 5

on its behalf by: BEEREREEF
JIN Jianxin TIAN Dong
SEH ES
Executive director Executive director
HITEF HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERRBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

Note
i3
Balance at R2023E1A18
1 January 2023 sk eh 359 249,653 (20,846) 197,742 426,908 632 427,540
Comprehensive income  2H K&
Profit for the year FRREF - - - 60,645 60,645 152 60,797
Exchange differenceson ~ BESINEK 2
translation of foreign EHER
operations 28 - - 47 - 47 1" 58
- - 47 60,645 60,692 163 60,855
Transactions with HREEAUHES
owners in their BEANBHES
capacity as owners ]
Appropriation to statutory AT BB A
reserves 28 - = 7,244 (7,244) - - -
Dividends paid BRRE 33 = (42,840) - = (42,840) = (42,840)
Balance at R2023512 8314
31 December 2023 MR 359 206,813 (13,555) 251,143 444,760 795 445,555
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
hEEREH R (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

YNSIE 2PN A
Non-
Share Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserves earnings Subtotal interests equity
BA  RHEE HtREE REEW N OEBRER  BRER

Note  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
Mz ARBTR ARBTR ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR

Balance at R202251818
1 January 2022 M 359 249,653 (26,148) 150,342 374,206 574 374,780

Comprehensive income 2 K5

Profit for the year ERF - - - 52,605 52,605 33 52,638
Exchange differenceson ~ BEFHEHZ

translation of foreign EREE

operations 28 - - 97 - 97 25 122

- - 97 52,605 52,702 58 52,760

Transactions with HEFANEES

owners in their 2 INGELE 2

capacity as owners HR5
Appropriation to statutory & A 3

reserves 28 - - 5,205 (5,205) - - -
Balance at R2022F12A318

31 December 2022 Me 359 249,653 (20,846) 197,742 426,908 632 427,540

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read | <r434 e ss 8 Bh 2% e ARSI B 3T — RS -
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MHLEE

2023 2022

2023 2022 4

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

k=3 ARBTT AREFT
Cash flows from operating activities REZ FEHMEHRESRE

Cash generated from operations LEFRE 34(a) 78,698 117,381

Interest received 2 F B 2,398 1,925

Income tax paid BEAFTEH (5,773) (4,851)
Net cash generated from RETHABRSER

operating activities 75,323 114,455
Cash flows from investing activities REZHFABRERE

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB #13 - BE L& B (83,142) (18,688)

Purchase of intangible assets BEEREE (1,834) (923)

Payments for land use rights T (E AR - (30,130)

Payments for financial instruments SR IT AR (35,590) (332,450)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEESBTEMEHRIE

instruments 151,326 133,195
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HE&E¥E - = &R E

and equipment FTi§ 3818 34(b) — 1,217
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFTEFE(FTA)

investing activities BEFEE 30,760 (247,779)

Rt ZRARD A

—EC=FFH 6/



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (CONTINUED)

HEBEESRER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR®T T AREFT
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHBRSRE
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHIE 70,000 138,500
Proceeds from discounted bills EEEEZJFZ?)T SFIB 65,561 56,500
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (155,000) (140,000)
Interest paid 2t ﬂ/u (3,349) (3,447)
Dividends paid BB (42,840) -
Principal elements of lease payments HENE $§*E 34(c) (4,674) (2,881)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FTA) g
financing activities & FEE (70,302) 48,672
Net (increase)/decrease in cash and BeERBRESEEY (M
cash equivalents B BEE 35,781 (84,652)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ RFEHWEE LIRS ZEY
of the year 127,889 199,742
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ SMEMERE &) 2 2 6,544 12,799
Cash and cash equivalents at end RERBERESEEY
of the year 170,214 127,889

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in FX4REIRESRERE
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kwung’s Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 13 November 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22,
law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s registered office is 89 Nexus Way,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in design and manufacturing of home fragrance related
products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
distributing the products to overseas and in the PRC. The ultimate
controlling company is Equiom Fiduciary Services (Hong Kong)
Limited. The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is
Mr. Jin Jianxin (“Mr. Jin” or the “Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder”).

The Company’s share began to list on the Stock Exchange on 16
January 2020.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (‘RMB’000”), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
cap.622. The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, which are carried at fair value.

—ER

IR AR AR ([ARAF]) 12018
FIMAIBEREASHSARZE (5
22F 1961 FE3IFED - BERE R
B EHSHEFMK L AERR
BR AT o AR E)HFE M3 F R hE
/89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands °

RRBB—RREFERRAF - NAF
HENBAR (EIAEE]) T2
RpEARAME (THEDRERE
BEMREERNRTREE TR E
SARPBDHER - XBERRAARB
Equiom Fiduciary Services (Hong Kong)
Limited - "RE B ZKRERBR A
a2 E] XN BREERR
Rl e

RATRMDN20205E1 16 BB R
BT BT o

BIERBHA BRZEHEE MBER
KINARETT(TARSTR]) 251 -

REEEREHBRRED

2.1 RBEAE

BI(ERBYHBREER)
R&B(RTEG)

BAVEREREBES S
Ae((EEAEHWIAE]) BHD
EBUBHELEA([BEBMER
XA ) MEBCRAIEN) E
REMPEERT TURE - PIK
MERBBEELRASEARE
iR A FENEZEGHEATFE
Bt \BEEHNEeMEERSHE
BIELBET »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
accounting policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise mentioned.

(i) New standards, amendments and
interpretation to existing standards which
are effective in 2023 and adopted by the
Group

The following new standards, amendments and
interpretation to existing standards have been adopted
by the Group for the first time for the financial year

2 WEEERSTHRET

()
22 B HREE

RAEGEEHMBRRAMEANES
BRI - B =B HA
ARG REBEFEMN
REER—2-

(i) R22023FEMMEARE
ERMAWHER - BE
A Z BRI R R2E

ANEBED B2023F1A1H
G 16 2 BF IR 4F 2 B 0 BR A DA
TEETER CIBEER 2B

beginning on 1 January 2023: FIARZE:

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Amendments)

BEGFTEAE R REBUEHREER BRI R E
ERmEE 2% (BFTA)

HKAS 8 (Amendment) Definition of Accounting Estimates

BB GHERIEH (BRI A) BEHEFTRESR

HKAS 12 (Amendment) Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction

BB EETERIZE 1298 (BRI A) HE-RHEECZEERBEMBRLTERIE

HKAS 12 (Amendment) International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

BB GRIERIE 125 (IBRTA) R NE — X SRR

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 17 (Amendment) Insurance Contracts

BT BREERNFE 7R R REE L

FEMBRELERFE 175 (EFTA)

The adoption of the new standards, amendments
and interpretation to existing standards do not have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR R MR (|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(ii) New standards, amendments,
interpretation and improvements to
existing standards which have not been
adopted

The following standards, amendments, interpretation
and improvements to existing standards, which
are relevant to the operations of the Group, have
been published and are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 but have not been early adopted by the Group:

New standards, amendments,
interpretation and improvements

MR BT A - RERIE

HK Int 5 (Revised)

Classification by the Borrower of a Term

2 REHERSTHXREH
(%)
22 ST BEREH @)

(ii) B2 A -

TRERMA
BEBZEFTA - ¥
ST &

TﬁF‘Eﬁf\

LT REAEERZERER
R RIBITEA ZBETA
REDNE CHBEmMAE
B ZEE2024F1 A1 8 8
2Bz R HAR R
AEEWEIR P RWNEAZ
SRR BETA R R E

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUATEERAKBRZ
BeETHBEX

1 January, 2024

Loan that Contains a Repayment on

Demand Clause

BRBEFESH (LIEE])
HKAS 1 (Amendment)

BEGFTEAE 1R (BFTR)
HKAS 1 (Amendment) N
EBLETEAFE 15 (BFTA)
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

FRGERF 7R MEBEYG

EREBFE 75 (BRTA)
HKFRS 16 (Amendment)
BB HREERZE 165

(BETA)
HKFRS 21(Amendment)
BB R EERIZE 215

CHENY
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)
BEMEHREEBIZFE 105 &

ERAHESEERERERBKIRDN
THERNDE

Classmcatlon of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

BESHEAMRBNIERE

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

WA REIERBAE

Supplier Finance Arrangements
HERRE LB

Lease Liab|llt¥ ina Sale and Leaseback

EREDNE

Lack of Exchangeabmty

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEBRABENARALERAZMHE

20241 81H
1 January, 2024

2024F1 A1 H
1 January, 2024
2024 F1 A1 H
1 January, 2024

20241 A1 H

1 January, 2024
202491 A1 H

1 January, 2025
202591 A1H

To be announced

BB GFERE 28 (IBFTR) HBAEE

None of these is expected to have a significant effect on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

HH | SR B R R A
REGANBRRELE
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WtHERERAT —To=FFH% /]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 SEHE
3.1 EXREFTHE
3 ME - -BERRE

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Material accounting policies

3.1.1 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their costs to their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings

BF

Transportation equipment
BRRE

Electronic equipment
BRI

Machinery

TPk

Furniture

KR

Leasehold improvements

HEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)
3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.1 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within “Other gain/(losses) — net” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

3.1.2 Investment properties

Investment properties are held for long-term rental
yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. Subsequently, they are also carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

3.1.3 Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and
finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and
fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are
assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

3 FEBER @
3.1 EXRSFHE @
MAME - BERRE @

RERSHE BEEEN
T84 (B @A BB EH - 3
Yt 1 T -

MREENREESREMG
AN E & B8 RIBDES S &
7 #O B [ {8 HUR 2 E AT Uk [El
TH e

RERZMERBBLER
PAISRREREEEE I
RiZAED A2 E RS
KATHM W, (B18)—F
R -

32 REWE

REMERRPH BAEX
FA BYEBAEEGE -
BREWMENTEEAAGTE
BEBAR S KA R AEK
A (HER) - BRI FRK
AR RETH AT B MO EE R S
HE o

33 FEE

REY#MEESF EETER
SUPK 5B 1R K AN B R B 3R R (B
HBEEAR RABRE
EYH BEESTIRRER
BERI DA E K EE
MR HR BB G o A
12 4R S 19 PR 2 B = fE )
FEEBE -CBERFEXA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

74

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

3.1.5 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
banks, deposits held at call with financial institutions
and other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

3.1.6 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for
goods and services provided to the Group prior to
the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade
and other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)
3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.7 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries/
regions where the Company’s subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

76

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.7 Current and deferred income tax

(Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.8 Revenue recognition

(i)

Sale of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of
candles, home fragrance and home accessories
in the wholesale market. Sales are recognised
when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to the
wholesaler, the wholesaler has full discretion over
the channel and price to sell the products, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the wholesaler’s acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

The products are sold with retrospective volume
rebates based on aggregate sales over a 12
months period to certain customers. Revenue
from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of the estimated
volume discounts. Accumulated experience is
used to estimate and provide for the rebates,
using the expected value method, and revenue
is only recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal will not occur.
The revenue from these sales is normally billable
immediate upon the delivery of the products. No
element of financing is deemed present as the sales
are made with no credit term, which is consistent
with market practice. The Group’s obligation
to replace faulty products under the standard
warranty terms is assessed and recognised as a
provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

78

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)
3.1.8 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Sale of goods — wholesale (Continued)

As receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

(i) Sale of goods — retail

The Group operates some stores selling candles,
home fragrance and home accessories. Revenue
from the sale of goods is recognised when a Group
entity sells a product to the customer.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately
when the customer purchases the products and
takes delivery in store. It is the Group’s policy to
sell its products to the end customer with a right
of return within 7 days. Therefore, a refund liability
(included in trade and other payables) and a right
to the returned goods (included in other current
assets) are recognised for the products expected
to be returned. Accumulated experience is used
to estimate such returns at the time of sale at a
portfolio level (expected value method). Because
the number of products returned has been steady
for years, it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur. The validity of this assumption and the
estimated amount of returns are reassessed at
each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 FEBER @
3.1 EXRSFHE @

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.8 Revenue recognition (Continued) 318 A FERE ()
(i) Accounting for costs to fulfil a contract (i) BITEH 2L ZE
As the transportation activities occur before the RN ER SR E S E

customer obtains control of related products, they
are not separate performance obligation, therefore,
related costs are contract fulfil cost which are
capitalised as assets according to HKFRS 15. These
assets are amortised on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the
goods to which the assets relate. Related assets are
not material at the balance sheet date due to the
short period of transportation and are charged into
the cost of sales directly as incurred.

(iv) Presentation of contract assets and

liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised
only if the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. If the Group recognises the related
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration for the promised goods and
services in the contract, then the entitlement to
consideration is classified as a contract asset.
Similarly, a contract liability, rather than a payable,
is recognised when a customer pays consideration,
or is contractually required to pay consideration
and the amount is already due, before the Group
recognises the related revenue. For a single
contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented
on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

80

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.8 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(v) Assets recognised from incremental costs

to obtain a contract

The Group applies the practical expedient in
paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15 and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts such as
sales commissions as an expense when incurred
if the amortisation period of the assets that the
Group otherwise would have recognised is one
year or less.

3.1.9 Investments and other financial assets

(1)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI.
For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Classification (Continued)

The group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

82

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in profit or loss of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”): Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in other gains/(losses)
and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

84

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

. Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"):
Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains/(losses) in profit or
loss of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3 FEBER @
3.1 EXRSFHE @
JMIREREMERMEE @)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets (iv) @& EHE

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instrument carried at amortised cost and financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. Note 4.1.1 details how
the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

86

(1)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.10 Leases

The Group is the lessee

The Group leases properties and land use right in
the PRC as lessee. Rental contracts of properties
are typically made annually on a recurring basis but
may have extension options as described below.
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent
prepaid operating lease payments for land located
in the PRC and the lease term is 50 years, which is
included in right-of-use assets.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-
of-use asset is depreciated or amortised over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

KWUNG’S HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ Annual Report 2023

3 85 BEw
31 EXREFEEm@®
MNEE
(i) FEEZABEA

AER (EREABA) R
TEEEME R THE
R -MENEL R
BEREEEREEET
MERATBE BA T IEHA 2 12
o AEEM L HE R
SN EN T
AN EME MK
& 8 A50F - 5t A
EREEET -

RANER BB B Al A
EEEZH BHER—
RERMEEERMEERER
BE-BFEHENKRIE
HEEEEM KA
Ao # - R AER
ERRAR BRI
UEEHBERBEES
B A SRR~ E
FAREERREREHR
BECHRFHEHEE]
M & BT R — fE HI
WEHRITE Sy -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR R MR (|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.10 Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group is the lessee (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e Fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

e  Variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate; and

e Payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group, as
a lessee, exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, If that rate
cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a
similar economic environment with similar terms
and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

e  The amount of the initial measurement of
lease liabilities;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

88

(1)

3.1 Material accounting policies (continued)

3.1.10 Leases (Continued)

The Group is the lessee (Continued)

e Any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive
received;

. Any initial direct costs; and

. Restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-
value assets comprise equipment and small items
of office furniture.

Extension options are only included in the lease
term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended. The Group determines the lease term
as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together
with both:

e Periods covered by an option to extend the
lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and

e Periods covered by an option to terminate the
lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to
exercise that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3 B BE®w
3.1 Material accounting policies (continued) 3 EXSFTEHE @
3110 Leases (Continued) 3003 E 40
(ii) The Group is the lessor (ii) @B N

When assets are leased out under operating
lease, the assets are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position based on the nature
of the assets. Rental income is recognised in profit
and loss of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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3.2 Other accounting policies 3.2 Htg st E
3.2.1 Subsidiaries 321 it A A
3211 Consolidation eV =y’

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to
direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)

3.2.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

3211 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for all business combinations,
regardless of whether equity instruments or
other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

e fair values of the assets transferred

e liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquired business

e equity interests issued by the Group

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

e fair value of any pre-existing equity
interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 FEBER @
3.2 Hib g5 EER @)
3.2.1 BB 2 | ()

3211 & GF (48)

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)
3.2.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)
3211 Consolidation (Continued)

@) EBEC(HE)

(@) Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity, and acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquired entity over the fair value of the net
identifiable assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If those amounts are less than the
fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash
consideration is deferred, the amounts
payable in the future are discounted to their
present value as at the date of exchange.
The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at
which a similar borrowing could be obtained
from an independent financier under
comparable terms and conditions. Contingent
consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured
to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.2 Other accounting policies (Continued)

92

3.2.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

3211 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or
losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transaction with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted
for as equity transaction — that is, as
transactions with the owner of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners, The difference
between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR R MR (|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)
3.2.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)
3212 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Investments in subsidiaries are also assessed for
impairment in accordance with Note 3.2.5 and
written down to their recoverable amounts.

3.2.2 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM”), who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
that makes strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

94

(a)

(b)

3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)

3.2.3 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (‘the functional
currency’). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised within “Other gains/
(losses) — net” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences
on non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive income
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 =EBR @
3.2 Hib g5 EER @)
323 MR E ()

(c) FEZLA

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)
3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)
3.2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

e assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

e income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions),
and

e all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part
of the gain or loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

96

3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)
3.2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

3.24 Intangible assets

(a) Patent

Patent is shown at historical cost. It has a finite
useful life of 5 to 10 years and is subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses.

When determining the length of useful life of a
patent, the Group takes into account the estimated
period during which such asset can bring economic
benefits to the Group.

(b) Software

Acquired software are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over
their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Considering the acquired software is well-
developed, off the shelf software with no
contractual terms, and the Group can use the
software as long as it can meet the Group’s
business needs, based on the current functionalities
equipped by the software and the daily operation
needs, the Group considers a useful life of 5-10
years is the best estimation under current business
needs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)
3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)

3.25 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.

3.26 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the relevant company or the
counterparty.

3.2.7 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)
3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)

3.2.8 Derivative financial instruments

The Group does not have any derivative financial
instruments that qualify for hedge accounting.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative financial
instruments are recognised immediately in the profit or
loss, except where the derivative financial instruments
are qualified for hedge accounting.

3.2.9 Employee benefits
(i) Pension obligations

The Group only operates defined contribution
pension plans. In accordance with the rules and
regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees
of the Group participate in various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
the relevant municipal and provincial governments
in the PRC under which the Group and the
PRC based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated
as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The
municipal and provincial governments undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations
of all existing and future retired PRC based
employees’ payable under the plans described
above. Other than the monthly contributions, the
Group has no further obligation for the payment
of retirement and other post-retirement benefits
of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in
independently administrated funds managed by
the governments.

The Group’s contributions to the defined

contribution retirement scheme are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR R MR (|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)

3.2.9 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Housing funds, medical insurances and
other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled
to participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plans. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions
to the housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances are expensed as incurred.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits; and (b) when the relevant Group
entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is
within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the
payment of terminations benefits. In the case of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy,
the termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

100

3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)

3210 Provisions

Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

3211 Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

(i) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account: the after income tax effect of
interest and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted
average number of additional ordinary shares
that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

3 ACCOUNT'NG POL'C'ES (Continued)

3.2 Other accounting policies (continued)

32.12Interest income

3 FEBER @

3.2 EMEE R @
3212 F A WA

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).

3.2.13Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

3214Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants related to assets refer to
government grants which are obtained by the Group for
the purposes of purchase, construction or acquisition
of the long-term assets. Government grants related to
income refer to the government grants other than those
related to assets.

Government grants related to assets are recorded as
deferred income and recognised in profit and loss
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on a systemic basis over
the useful lives of the assets. Government grants to
compensate the future costs, expenses or losses are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit
or loss when related costs incurred. Government grants
related to income that compensate the incurred costs,
expenses or losses are recognised in profit or loss directly
in current period. The Group applies the presentation
method consistently to the similar government grants in
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

102

4.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

4.1.1Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
contractual cash flows of debt instruments carried at
amortised cost, FVPL, derivative financial assets and
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well
as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers,
including outstanding receivables.

(1)

(ii)

Cash in banks

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash deposits at banks
since they are substantially deposited at state-
owned banks and other medium or large size listed
banks. Management does not expect that there
will be any significant losses from non-performance
by these counterparties.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The expected credit loss also incorporate forward
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4 BERERERE @

4.1 BHEREREZE @)
LN S E R B ()
(iif) B fEg 5018

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
4.1.1 Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Other receivables

Other receivables at the end of each reporting
period were mainly deposits, advances to
employees and the amounts due from related
parties. The directors of the Company consider
the probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk the Group compares risk of a default
occurring on the assets as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

Internal credit rating;
° External credit rating;

e Actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparty’s
ability to meet its obligations;

e Actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the counterparty;

e Significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
counterparty;

e The employment relationship with the
employee debtor.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment/repayable demanded.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

104

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Other receivables (Continued)

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments/
repayable demanded within 90 days of when they
fail due.

Financial assets are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as
a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan
with the Group. The Group categories a loan or
receivable for write off when a debtor fails to
make contractual payments/repayable demanded
greater than 180 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group
continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due. Where
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit
or loss of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Since the advances to employees and amounts due
from related parties had no historical default, at
each reporting period end, the expected losses of
the advances to employees and amounts due from
related parties are measured on a 12-month basis.

The directors of the Company believe that
there was no material credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
4.1.1 Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Forward-looking information

incorporated in the expected credit loss
model

The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting
credit risk and expected credit loss. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. The Group has identified key
factors such as the gross domestic product (“GDP”)
of the countries in which it sells its goods to be the
most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in
these factors.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss
allowance provision were determined as follows:

Trade receivables

4
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BEERERE @
4.1 Bt R e E E @)
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(iv) BRIIGEEREZMH

AFIETEE#
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72023 4F 2022412
A31 Bz EBEERE
BEOT
EZEWRFIE

31 December 2022
2022%F 128318

RMB’000
ARETT
Gross Loss
Expected carrying  allowance
loss rate amount  provision
B ERER
BEZX KREAE BB
Within 30 days 30HA 0.15% 55,906 81 0.08% 37,295 30
31 to 180 days 31E2180H 0.45% 95,252 427 0.18% 80,501 145
18110 1 year 181BE15E 21.30% 279 59 14.33% 1,964 281
110 2 years 182% 56.90% 746 424  51.83% 2,817 1,460
2 to 3 years 2E3F 100.00% 2,038 2,038  100.00% 1,556 1,556
154,221 3,029 124,133 3472
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)y 4 Bf ¥ E B B I8 ()

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 4.1 BB EREE @
4.1.1 Credit risk (Continued) LN S E R B ()

(iv) Forward-looking information (iv) R EEERZEH
incorporated in the expected credit loss AFTEEMEE ) ()
model/ (Continued)

Other receivables (excluding recoverable HERRE(FTERE
value added tax) o] [B] Y 12 B B )
31 December 2022
202512A318
RMB'000
ARETTR
Gross Loss
Expected crying  allowance
loss rate amount provision
BEx  KELE BB
Deposits 11.17% 12 months expected 975 109 7.52% 926 70
losses
#e RERRAEE
Advances to employees 12.03% 12 months expected 947 114 8.56% 1,017 87
losses
XA FEERH RERRAEE
Amounts due from related 12.03% 12 months expected 416 50 8.56% 462 39
parties losses
FE B 7 3R 1ERRAEE
Others 12.03% 12 months expected 446 54 8.56% 246 21
losses
Ef NEAREER
2,784 327 2,651 217
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4 BiigmEkEEE @
4.1 B EREZE @m

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

412 Liquidity risk L2 RBESRRE
Management aims to maintain sufficient cash and EREEEABRENE S

cash equivalents or have available funding through an
adequate amount of available financing, including loans
from related parties to meet its daily operation working
capital requirements.

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their
contractual maturities for:

(a) all non-derivative financial liabilities, and

(b) net settled derivative financial instruments for
which the contractual maturities are essential for
an understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The fair value of the Group’s derivative financial
instruments was included at their fair value of RMBNil
as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: fair value
of RMB4,207,762) within the less than 12 months time
bucket. This is because the contractual maturities are
not essential for an understanding of the timing of the
cash flows. These contracts are managed on a net fair
value basis rather than by maturity date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

4.1.2 Liquidity risk (Continued)

4 BIREBEERE@m
4.1 BHEREREZE @)
L12REE € E B (@)

Less than Over

1 year 1 year

DPR—F BiB—F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B E ARETT ARETT

Non-derivatives
As at 31 December 2023

FTETAE
7M2023F12A31H

Trade and other payables B 5 KR HE A ER I 20 155,651 1,365
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 1,122 =
156,773 1,365
As at 31 December 2022 M2022%F12831H
Trade and other payables B5 K E M EMNE 20 76,687 468
Lease liabilities HEa®E 31 201 -
76,888 468
Derivatives fTET A
As at 31 December 2023 72023128311
Derivative financial instruments T4 &8 T A - -
As at 31 December 2022 M2022%F12H831H
Derivative financial instruments T4 &8 T A 99,003 -

Trade and other payables here exclude non-financial
liabilities of accrued payroll and other taxes payable.

108  KWUNG’S HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ Annual Report 2023

RENHE 5 & H Al & 5008
BT A AR B A A
MBAZFERAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

4.1.3 Foreign exchange risk

The Group sells products internationally and is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency
transactions, primarily with respect to the USD. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in
a currency that is not the functional currency of the
relevant Group entity.

The Group also entered into foreign currency forwards
in relation to products sales for the next 12 months
that do not qualify as ‘highly probable’ forecast
transactions and hence do not satisfy the requirements
for hedge accounting (economic hedges). The foreign
currency forwards are subject to the same risk
management policies as all other derivative contracts.
However, they are accounted for as derivative financial
instruments with gains (losses) recognised in profit or
loss of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities to foreign
exchange risk based on the assumption that USD had
strengthened/weakened by 10% against RMB with all
other variables held constant:

4

BEERERE @
4.1 B EREZE @m

4.1.3 SMNEE [ Bex

AEERZ2HREEERR
T b SN 32 5 B A 2 HME R
@ TERET - IMNERKR
RERKRBER S RIAEE
EHEBERIIEEE 28
BitEZCRAEENAGE -

AEBERKRKRI2EARILA
FAEMAE ZINEEMAK -
HEAREIREaEtE] 28
HR5 W A6+
SR (B ) BK - SN
EHANAZAEEMITE
BREREREEZBRAR o
Rl WERSABRNE
fhzHEER2BEANCHE
RZiTEemT AW (E8)
N

TERBAANEHEREE X
@B E ¥ HNE & B B 8RR
Mo EREEETHARE
FHE B 1E10% @ A A
{8 B R TE -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETF T
USD/RMB exchange rate ELH ARE X
—increase 10% —#E10% 17,227 10,271
USD/RMB exchange rate ETLHARKER
— decrease 10% —P&IK10% (17,227) (10,271)
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

110

4.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for owners and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net
debt.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group maintained at
net cash position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4 BIIEEEEIE @)

4.3 Fair value estimation 4.3 R EME

(i) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and () tREERSHMEEN
financial liabilities NEERBR
This section explains the judgements and estimates REFRE T R B IRE R
made in determining the fair values of the financial BREREAFEFENESR
instruments that are recognised and measured at TERXTFEMELMNAER
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an HEt - RELEHEEBEEATF
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in BFTA#E ASE 2 EEE
determining fair value, the Group has classified its B AEEDREAELR
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed ERESRTAS B =A%
under the accounting standards. An explanation of each o BEFNTRETHEM

level follows underneath the table.

Recurring fair value measurements EEMERFETE
Note
izt
At 31 December 2023 R2023512831H
Financial assets SREE
Fixed deposits EHER 25 - 100,590 - 100,590
Financial liabilities SRERE - - - -
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Note

#iE  ARBTL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

BEERERE @
4.3 A EEMHEF @

(i) eHEERESHEEN
NEEBH @)

AEM L FEE (#)

Level 2 Level 3 Total
F_E £ @ar

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARRBTE  ARBTLT ARETR

At 31 December 2022 W2022%12A31R

Financial assets SREE
Fixed deposits EHER 25 105,000 - 105,000
Funds HEe 24 - 101,560 101,560
Wealth management BERITEITZ
products issued by BB E @
commercial banks 24 1,650 - 1,650
RMB:USD fixed-fixed AREAETERE
cross-currency exchange TN EBER
rate swap 15 24 765 - 765
107,415 101,560 208,975
Financial liabilities tRBE
USD:RMB fixed-fixed ETRARBEE
cross-currency exchange INEHEEX
rate swap = 24 (316) - (316)
Foreign currency forwards INEREBA L 24 (4,656) - (4,656)
(4,972) - (4,972)

There were no transfers among level 1, level 2 and level
3 for recurring fair value measurements during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in
level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques
which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on
entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

4

BEERERE @
4.3 A EEMGF @

(i) eHEERESHEEN
NEEBK @)

AHEM L FETE (#)

AEENBRRENHREHR

=7 /7N
EEIJ/I’U AN

K#EH
£-E:

=

Rt ZRARD A

FEEBRZEHEA

REBTHEENERIA
WAFERBREHRND
BHRENK - AREREH
EREENTEHRERER
BRE ASTRINE-B-

THRERTHZEENER
TAfmEIRFTETR)
MAFERBRERTET -
RERNEENRITERD
BRE REORBEIEN
KEfh- A8 -EER
TENRVEMRNAEE
RBARUERYE A%
TRIIAEZRE-

M-A%ZRERGARE
TERETBETSEE
AHIRIINEZE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)y 4 Bf ¥ E B B I8 ()

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 4.3 N FEEMAF @
(i) Valuation techniques used to determine (i) BEQFERAMLE

fair values T

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial At em I AMABEEME

instruments include: T eE

e the use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes e HRABUIAMMISR
for similar instruments B ZEME

e for forward currency forwards — based on forward o EHHINEERHIEH-—MN
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period HE A E BIRIEINE

e other techniques, such as discounted cash flow o  HMHFEM - HlandrIRIR
analysis EREDN

There were no changes in valuation techniques during B E2023F k202212 A

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. BB IEFE - M ERMI &

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for RAFEE  REBUERAFE

recurring fair value measurements during current year. FrEmME BE—E-F=Z

AR =8 2 TR I e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Allowance on doubtful receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group used judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.

Estimated useful lives and residual values
of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation expenses for its property,
plant and equipment. Management estimates useful lives
of the property, plant and equipment by reference to the
Group’s business model, its assets management policy,
the industry practice, expected usage, expected repair and
maintenance, and technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in the market.

Management determines the estimated residual value
for its property, plant and equipment by reference to all
relevant factors at each measurement date. The depreciation
expense will change where the useful lives or residual value
of property, plant and equipment are different from the
previous estimate.

5 BEAGFHEFTRAE

REBHRKERBSRBREZ AT
MEt A RERERIEFRANEMRE

+
B 45

R-UTRETEYREFEENE

ENBERAENEAFBEXNEX

ey

(a)

(b)

Rt ZRARD A

M bt R R AR

PR R R ZE

AEEREBEHEORR RBHE
BEN BRI BB RIEES -
AEEREREHRRELERE
FE e~ BRI TR K BT BE MR
FHZERRLEERRESED
¥ A MBI (5 F I

MRFEAHERAEFEEZERE A
MERBTERBMGTEERE
HIE B 5 K HoAl 8 WO TR A B R
FRFA MBIREE -

W - BERRENMEE
AEAFEHRFEREE

EEEETYE BELEREDH
Mt A A F S FREENA
MITERX BEEEDNZ2ELAE
BREBENA  HEETERRE
TRED  FEHAE AHEE
kRE AMSE R ZEHN
B R T Sk B R 0T EOB K 0 DA E
WE - BB MRER R ERER -

EEEBENSFEAMSEMEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

116

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by CODM. The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segment, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company.

The Group is principally engaged in the design, manufacture and
processing of wax products, glass products and aromatherapy
products. The CODM reviews the operating results of the business
as one operating segment to make decisions about resources to
be allocated. Therefore, the CODM regards that there is only one
segment which is used to make strategic decisions.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, most of the non-current
assets of the Group were located in the PRC.

Revenue from external parties contributing 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group is as follows:

N

7 EBE R

EEERBEAIZLERRERRN
BEBERLEDH TERLEREE
BREARBMNPTESZ AENEER
KFHERZE D BRRA -

AEBXTZHRFEEED BEERNR
BREEMZE HERNMT - TBE
ERREBZAEBES —EALED
# o BHEKLEXRE  UBLEROE D
FCAFHIRER - AUt TREERKER
REE—ERFHEEIERRODE -

MR2023F K2022F12HA31H » A&
ENZEIERBEEIUNFR -

KEIBALERMAEEBLKA10%
FIAEZ AT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBFT

Customer A EEA 185,771 185,436
Customer B =FB 122,341 99,511
Customer C ZPC 108,608 85,113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

7 REVENUE 7 WA
Revenue mainly comprises of proceeds from wholesale of goods. WAFEBERBERAMFHIE -
An analysis of the Group’s revenue by product type is as follows: REEZERELE WA ITAT -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2022
2022 4F
RMB’000
ARBFT
Revenue from customers: REEFZWA :
Candles 818 546,884 498,620
Home fragrance REBE 142,814 111,940
Home accessories ENEE- I 116,853 108,115
806,551 718,675
Timing of revenue recognition ON D
— At a point in time — AR, 806,551 718,675
An analysis of the Group’s revenue by business model is as REEREBEXEDWWADITIT -
follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2022
2022 FF
RMB’000
AREF T
Wholesale #eEE 800,272 713,661
Retail =g 6,279 5,014
806,551 718,675
(a) Contract liabilities (a) EHNEE
The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract AEEBRRTIINWMARBNE L
liabilities: BfE:
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2022
2022 %
RMB’000
ARMBF T
Advanced payments from customers 2R B & F 2 8#J 5 IE 6,337 6,219

WtERERAT —To=FFH [/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR

7

118

Rk E EL N EEEE )

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Significant change in contract liabilities

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the
advanced payments made by customers while the underlying

goods are yet to be delivered.

(c) Revenue recognised in relation to contract

liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022 related to carried-forward contract liabilities.

7 WA @
(b) EBHEBHNEKREH

(0)

Revenue recognised that was FTAFHE KB EAZE

included in the contract liabilities B9 5 #EZRYLA
balance at the beginning of
the year

Advanced payments from KERPZBNRIE

customers

AREMANAEEIEELAE
B e R - BRI S
CESOR

RENEERINVBA

TRETEE2023F &20224F
NRANBLFEERERLEES
HEBEHNRASE -

Year ended 31 December
BZE12831BLEE

2022
20224
RMB’000
AREFT

6,219 4,955

(d) Unsatisfied performance obligations

The Group applies the practical expedient and does
not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations that have original expected durations of one year

of less.

(e) Assets recognised from incremental costs

to obtain a contract

Contract obtaining costs incurred related to contracts such as
sales commissions with an amortisation period of one year or

less have been expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

EXPENSES BY NATURE

8 BMEIEITHRAX

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREET T
Raw materials and consumables Fr AR M % & P H 7%
used 462,931 305,536
Subcontracting costs RN 126,419 231,852
Employee benefit expenses EERAAZ 83,677 69,608
Transportation expenses RiBHE 15,295 15,217
Utilities NAEE 6,454 4,708
Depreciation of property, plantand  #1% - BB M & EITE
equipment 15,863 10,936
Depreciation of investment KEMERE
properties 377 377
Amortisation of intangible assets B8 EHH 789 697
Amortisation and depreciation of CRAREE#HHEIINE
right-of-use assets 3,479 2,838
Taxes and surcharges TRIENMH e 4,946 2,848
Travelling expenses ERFAX 2,138 1,131
Operating lease expenses on HEHEEEHERSE
short-term leases 3,197 3,021
Business entertainment expenses EBRERZ 2,621 1,697
Sample inspection and express fees  #migE K RIEE 3,949 3,007
Advertising and promotion expenses & & K 1 & 5 52 4,254 10,245
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B A 357 B
— Annual audit service —FEEZRE 1,810 1,680
Statutory audit fees EEBZER 491 165
Other service fees HiRIGE 5,599 4,005
Office expenses BN 2,326 1,994
Insurance expenses REEFH = 415 228
Sales commission HERS 454 1,050
Others HAh 2,392 1,949
749,876 674,789
FithZERAR D F —z-=FF% 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

120

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

9 EETBAMAX

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEE

2022

2022 4

RMB’000

ARBFIT

Wages, salaries and bonuses T& - FHaeMEA 67,042 54,906

Pension costs (Note a) BIKERA (Kita) 4,163 3,483
Housing funds, medical insurances FEAES « BERE X

and other social insurances it iR (AaLb)

(Note b) 7,562 6,732

Other employee benefits Hibig BEF| 4,910 4,487

83,677 69,608

Note a.

Note b:

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC, the subsidiaries
operating in the PRC contribute to state-sponsored retirement plans for
their employees. The employees contribute approximately 8% of their basic
salaries, while the subsidiaries contribute approximately 13-14% of the
basic salaries of their respective employees and have no further obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various
government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance and other
employee social insurance plans. The Group contributes on a monthly
basis to these funds based on approximately 25.4% of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group’s liability in respect of
these funds is limited to the contributions payable in each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 9 EERAMIZw

(a) Five highest paid individuals (@) A fuEBEESHFMA L
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five individuals B ZE2023F12A31HIEFE -
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include 2023F AEBE WA &= H A
1 (2022: Nil) director 2023 whose emolument is reflected in + B (20224 : &) EFH -
the analysis shown in Note 37. The emoluments payable to HEHEME &HFIRME37 29 A -
the remaining 4 (2022: 5) individuals are as follows: FEMESRIUAL (20224 © BLAL) A
TXAEEFBAT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARET T
Wages, salaries and bonuses I Fekia
Wages and bonuses ITE& R4 1,280 1,428
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAL 623 687
Pension costs BIRE KA 42 47
Housing funds, medical insurances FEATE® - BERE X
and other social insurances Hihit 2R 98 109
2,043 2,271
The emoluments fell within the following bands: ZEHMEAT 2EEBER -

Number of individuals
A8
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2022
2022 4F

Emolument bands (in HK dollar) e E (CABTYIR)

Nil = HK$600,000 T % 600,000% 7T 3 5
HK$600,000 — HK$ 1,200,000 600,000 T E

1,200,0007% 7T 1 -

4 5

WtHERERAT —To=FFH 2]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

10 OTHER INCOME

"

122

0 Hfblhz

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MBLEE

2022

20224

RMB’000

AREF T

Rental income HeWam 1,285 1,529
Government grants (/) BUS#BN() 1,759 3,662
Others HAb 980 1,173
4,024 6,364

Government grants were mainly unconditional government subsidies received

by the Group from relevant government bodies.

OTHER GAINS

i BB E R AL EWT KB EE BT

Wz |AFHBUR AR -

1 Hiblhs

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2022
2022
RMB’000
ARBTT
Losses on disposal of property, LEWE - HMERXBEEIE
plant and equipment — net —F5 (130) (109)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use & AR E &E 2 W — 558
assets — net - 32
Net foreign exchange gains HNGE Y 25 )5 58 6,487 13,660
Fair value losses on foreign HNEERARE X 2 N EEE
exchange forward contracts (170) (10,040)
Fair value gains on funds Bz N FERE 6,955 1,560
Fair value gains on fixed deposits i EifF 3k 2 2 F{EUW S 5,632 -
Fair value gains on fixed-fixed BEERXXEBERER 2
cross-currency exchange N ERE
rate swap 2,842 3,708
Donation expenses B (2,050) (150)
Others Hity (175) (661)
19,391 8,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

12 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 12 W s kA

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEE

2022
2022 %
RMB’000
ARETIT
Finance income B H Uk &=
Interest income PRt gs 2,397 1,925
Finance costs g 3%
Interest expenses on borrowings &3 F B F X (3,698) (3,364)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities & & &F S X (90) (83)
(3.788) (3,447)
Net finance costs B 745 A 7 S BB (1,391) (1,522)

WtHERERAT —To=FF% .3



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

13 SUBSIDIARIES

124

13 B~ E]

REEMR2023F &2022F12 A31H

The Group’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and as at
the date of issue of these financial statements are set out below.
Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital that are held
directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests
held equals the voting rights held by the Group.

ERBEHZEMBEHRRABZMEL

AR XX E S

cBRABHPEIN  HE

RAIZBARAREBEEE A LR
BzmBRESa PSRN AN EE R

BRZREE-
Place of incorporation/ Attributable to equity interest
Names of the subsidiaries establishment Issued capital of the Group Principal activities
il PEE GANENE 4 BRRE BRNEEERAER %R
31 December
128318
2023 2022
WB3E W0E

Kwung's Investments Limited BV UsD1 100.00% 100.00%  Intermediate holding company
BEREGRAT AERAES 157 100.00% 10000% FEERLT
Kwung's Wisdom (Hongkong) Co,  Hong Kong HKS1 100.00% 100.00%  Intermediate holding company
Limited
BHER(BR)BRAT B 187 100.00% 10000% FREBRAT
Ningho Kwung's PRC RIMB91,000,000 100.00% 100.00% Design, manufacture and processing; Wholesale

and retail company
EjiEt hE ARE91,0000007C 100.00% 10000% it BERMIRE: #ERFELT
Ningbo Koman Import and export ~ PRC RMB1,500,000 100.00% 100.00% Import or export of self-employed or agent goods
Co,, ltd. and technology
RS 2EHOARAT i ABRH 15000007 100.00% 10000% BRAREERREMELD
Ningbo Aromage Homeware Co., Ltd.  PRC RMB1,000,000 100.00% 100.00% Wholesale and retail of household items,

handicrafts
EREERRZERRARAT  PE ABEH1,0000007T 100.00% 10000% FEER FIBRIHEREE
Neobee Australia Pty Limited Australia AUD240,000 80.00% 80.00% Trading Company
Neobee Australia Pty Limited 2 240,000 % 80.00% 80.00% EZAH
Ningbo Fenyuan Aromatherapy PRC RIB1,000,000 100.00% 100.00%  Design, manufacture and processing of wax
Products Co., Ltd. products, metal products and glass products
ERGGEREMARAT ik ABRH1,0000007 100.00% 10000% %55 cEERRRBERZRT HER

nT
Wuhu Keman Crafts Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 100.00% 100.00% Wholesale and retail of household items,

handicrafts
B2 TERARAT hE AR%10,000,0007T 100.00% 10000% H#ERTERERE FIEm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amounts of income tax expense charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss represent:

14 FRIEHMAX
HAGARBRZFEHMX LB

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBFT
Current income tax BIEAFT1S 32
— PRC corporate income tax — B EFTER 6,656 2,075
— Hong Kong profits tax —EABNER 2,567 1,209
Deferred income tax IEIEFTIS TR
— Increase in deferred tax assets —IRIEFIE & EE I N
(note 32) (H&£32) (500) (551)
— Increase in deferred —IREFIE & FEE N
tax liabilities (note 32) (B17#32) 7,936 1,003
Income tax expense PR1S BB < 16,659 3,736
(a) Cayman Island income tax (a) AEBHEFBH

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman Islands income tax.

(b) British Virgin Islands income tax

Under the current laws of the British Virgin Islands, entities
incorporated in British Virgin Islands are not subject to tax on
their income or capital gains.

(c) Hong Kong profits tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in Hong Kong has been calculated at the applicable tax
rate on the estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 December 2023, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The statutory
tax rate was 16.5% for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (m)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 13 Fi B 2 =) @
Place of incorporation/ Attributable to equity interest
Names of the subsidiaries establishment Issued capital of the Group Principal activities
HEARAR SR/ LB BRTRA BRRAEERARE I%ED
31 December
128318
2023 2022
3% W0E
Beijing Aromage Homeware Co,, Ltd.  PRC RMB500,000 100.00% 100.00%  Wholesale and retail of household items,
handicrafts
IREERRZERRARLA  HE ARES500,0007 100.00% 10000% #ERTEXERE FIEm
Wuxi Aromage Homeware Co,, Ltd. ~ PRC RMB500,000 100.00% 100.00%  Wholesale and retail of household items,
handicrafts
EREERRZERRARLT  *E ARE5000007T 100.00% 10000% HERTEXERE FIEm
Taizhou Aromage Homeware Co, Ltd. PRC RMB500,000 100.00% 100.00% Wholesale and retail of household items,
handicrafts
ANEERRZERMERAR  E ARH5000007T 100.00% 10000% HERTEXEER FIim
Jinhua Aromage Homeware Co., Ltd.  PRC RMB500,000 - 100.00%  Wholesale and retail of household items,
handicrafts
SERERRXERRARLR  HE ARE5000007 - 10000% HERTEXEER FI1Em
Jiaxing Corner Household Products ~ PRC - - 100.00%  Wholesale and retail of household items,
Co., Ltd. handicrafts
FREBAAFERARERAT  HE - - 10000% HERZEXEEE FIER
Wuhan Aromatherapy Times PRC - 100.00% 100.00%  Wholesale and retail of household items,
Household Products Co., Ltd. handicrafts
RERERRFERAMARLA  1H - 100.00% 10000% H#ERTEXERE FIEq
Anhui Fenyuan Aromatic Technology ~ PRC RMB50,000,000 100.00% 100.00%  Design, manufacture and processing of wax
(o, Ltd. products
RSB ERRARLT hE AR%50,000,0007T 100.00% 100.00% i RERNIEEE
Herbay Inc. Us - 100.00% 100.00%  Wholesale and retail of household items,
handicrafts
Herbay Inc. X8 - 100.00% 10000% HERTERERR FIZm
Ningbo Wanwei Crafts Manufacturing  PRC RIMB47,000,000 100.00% 100.00%  Intermediate holding company
Co., Ltd.
ERERTERREARAT  E AR 47,0000007T 100.00% 10000% PEZRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

14 RSB X @
(d) PEIDEREH

14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(d) PRC corporate income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable tax
rate on the estimated assessable profits for the years, based
on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof. The statutory tax rate was 25% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Ningbo Kwung’s was qualified as a “High and New
Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE”) since 2008 and renewed
its qualification in December 2023. It is subject to a reduced
preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% from 2023 to
December 2026 according to the applicable tax preference
applicable to the HNTE.

In addition, pursuant to the Announcement on Increasing the
Pre-tax Deductions in Support of Technological Innovation
(Announcement [2022] No. 28) issued by the Ministry of
Finance, the State Taxation Administration and the Ministry
of Science and Technology, during the period from 1 October
2022 to 31 December 2022, the cost of newly purchased
equipment can be fully deducted against taxable profit in
2022 and entitled to additional pre-tax deduction at 100%
(“Additional deduction for equipment”).

7N 5= B 5t b B A Hb 9 48 4 E Y
FrESRBEDBIERTEARZ @&
BREN  UFEEFEARNERHNE
FHBEAMETE - &HE20234F
F2022F12 A3 HIEFE & F
FREE25% °

R IR B 2008 F LAK T & B IR
ER R EMEZE] ([ HBEAM
) WN2023F 12 AFHHE
% BREBEERRSFRMEE
ZHEEANIEBE  HB2023F %
2026 F 12 AHIEI%Z 15% 1 T &
BEREHR R -

o IRIBEB R IR B 42
BREHE AR MK S 3%
BT AR AR HERAEN (A
22022 55285%%) - 7A2022F 10
A1B 22022912 HA31 B HHE -
EERBEHORARR2022F 1
JERB R MARE2EMNG  WAE
RE AT E1T100% Mt B ([3%
BEtER]) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 14 FRI8HBA XX w
(d) PRC corporate income tax (Continued) (d) FEBTEREBH @

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Profit before income tax R P15 856 A 7 77,456 56,374
Tax calculated at applicable RERATEMRERTE25%
corporate income tax rate of 25% s+ & K FiIH 19,364 14,094
Tax effects of: AT SR E 2 -
— Expenses not deductible for —BRHRIE T S S AT HIRR EY
taxation purposes 2 1,757 72
— Income not subject to — BRI TS BRI A
income tax - (1,703)
— Effect of different tax rates of —BRREINEETR
domestic and overseas entities MERFE (3,094) (5,443)
— Super deduction for research — e 2 BERIE
and development expenses (5,595) (2,935)
— Additional deduction for — R INETHBR
equipment - (1,392)
— Deductible tax losses and — RERAVELEISH
temporary differences not BEAENKIEERE
recognised for deferred RERERE
income tax assets 1,276 1,043
— Deductible of unrealised profit ~ — A] F1Bk A B35 5% F| (1,087) -
— Income tax for distribution —& D BTSN
of profits 7,500 -
- The difference of settlementand — @A FE R EMEHR
payment of annual enterprise FREEESHER
income tax in previous years (1,479) -
— Utilisation of previously — BRI AR FERTIA
unrecognised tax losses &8 (1,983) -
Income tax expense PGB X 16,659 3,736
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M )

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issued during the
period.

14 RER
(a) BREZXZEF

HE2023F12A831BILFEE
BERBFIZBAERQIREES A
JE 17 535 ) B DA B 35 17 358 AR o i

Year ended 31 December
HE12A3MBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
Profit attributable to owners of the 22X Rl A A FE1G % 7
Company (RMB’000) (AR®EFT) 60,645 52,605
Weighted average number of BEIT L ERA INE
ordinary shares in issue 8 (A TFERSTR)
(expressed in thousand) 405,042 405,042
Basic earnings per share for profit A2 GG A L& F &9
attributable to the owners of the BREAREF
Company (expressed in RMB (RERARERTR)
per share) 0.15 0.13

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, diluted
earnings per share was equal to the basic earnings per share
as there were no dilutive shares.

H 22023%F M 2022F 12 A31H
FFE AR EEERG W
SRS ERFRENSRELRRF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 1% - BERZE

Asat1January 2023 R2023%5151R

Cost s 15,502 3,659 3317 2,161 2301 38,249 2,780 87,969
Accumulated SR

depreciation (5233) (2129 (1,064) (4324) (1283) (21,199) - (35,191)
Net book value EEFE 10,269 1530 253 17,831 1,058 17,051 2780 52,778
Year ended BEABENANE

31 December 023 LEE
Opening net book value FAIEEFE 10,269 1530 2253 17837 1,058 17,051 2780 52,778
Additons g - 740 414 863 109 3,765 122,125 128,016
Transfers £z - 69 - 2131 - - (2,300 -
Disposals HE - - - (130) = - = (130)
Depreciation floze§) ~ E(H8) (642) (522) (333) (2.267) (565) (11,544) - (15,863)
Closing net book value & XEEFE 9627 1817 234 18,534 602 912 122,605 164,801

Asat31December  R2023512A318

W3
Cost s 15,502 4,468 3730 25,060 2410 0,014 122,605 215,789
Accumulated SR

depreciation (5,875) (2,651) (1,386) (6,526) (1,808) (32702) = (50,988)
Net book value SHFE 9,67 1817 2,34 18,534 602 912 122,605 164,801
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 ¥ BERXE@
(Continued)
Transportation Electronic leasehold ~ Assets under
Buildings equipment equipment Machinery Fumiture  improvements  construction Total
B Bhih Btk it A HERE ERRE EEl

RMB000 RVB000 RWB 000 RVB000 RVB'000 RVIB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR

Asat1January 2022 R20225151R

Cost i 15,861 3561 2715 19872 2866 28,880 209 76,005
Accumulated ZifTE

depreciation (4.925) (1,745) (1.721) (6:214) (1617) (13802) - (30,030)
Net book value BHFE 10936 1816 98 13658 1,249 15,078 2290 46,015
Year ended BEANENANE

31December 202 LEE
Opening net book value {1 (A 10936 1816 98 13658 1,249 15,078 229 46,015
Additons g - 120 2146 2413 b 9,369 4,6% 19025
Transfers £z - - - 4,206 - - (4.206) -
Disposals hE 25 (1) (582) (610) (108) - - (1326)
Depreciation (lorz§) ~ E (W28 (642) (405) (299) (1830) (364) (7,39%) - (10936)
Closing net book value £ RE (A 10269 1530 2053 17837 1,058 17,051 2780 52718

Asat31 December  R2022£12A318

02
Cost i 15502 3,659 3317 2,161 2301 38,49 2780 87,969
Accumulated ZifE

depreciation (5,233) 2,129 (1,064) (4324) (1243) (21,198 - (35,191)
Net book value EHFE 10,269 1530 2253 17837 1,058 17,051 2,780 52,778
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Rk E EL N EEEE )

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 Y% - BMENKZE @
(Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment was charged to the ME -BMERRB2ITEERESE
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive mREMEEBREERINBRAT

17

132

income as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2022
2022 FF
RMB’000
ARMBFT
Cost of sales SHE KA 8,279 6,425
Administrative expenses THHEX 4,853 2,722
Research and development expenses 2 7 = 671 731
Selling expenses HERX 2,060 1,058
15,863 10,936
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, assets under construction PR20234F 202212 B31H » £#&
mainly represented the building costs of Anhui Fenyuan Aromatic BEFZRZRATLETERBRBERA
Technology Co., Ltd.. AT -
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17 REW=
Investment properties are located in the PRC. The movement of BEMEMRTE - REMELZE
investment properties is analysed as follows: DT
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2022
2022 F
RMB’000
ARBTT
Cost B AR 11,905 11,905
Accumulated depreciation R2EITE (4,746) (4,369)
Net book value AR FE 7,159 7,536
Opening net book value FYREEE 7.536 7,913
Depreciation (Note 8) WeE Wits) (377) (377)
Closing net book value FREMFEE 7,159 7,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17 REVZ w
Lease rental income relating to the lease of investment properties HEEMEsHERB2AERS K
has been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss mOFT ARG EEREME2EKERX
and other comprehensive income as follows: wmr

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBFT

Rental income e lhzm 1,285 1,529

Depreciation of investment properties was charged to the REMEREDNEEeERREME
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive HWERABRAT -

income as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEFEE
2022
2022 €
RMB’000
ARETF T

Administrative expenses THHAX 377 377
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 B EE

Patent right Software Total
EFRE B4 a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARETF T AREF T
At 1 January 2023 72023F1H18
Cost [B# 1,122 7,849 8,971
Accumulated amortisation g §ic (1,020) (3,354) (4,374)
Net book value BRTENFE 102 4,495 4,597
Year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023512H31H
IEEE
Opening net book value FYREFE 102 4,495 4,597
Additions NE 41 1,793 1,834
Amortisation (Note 8) B (hiEs) (39) (750) (789)
Closing net book value FAREEFE 104 5,538 5,642
At 31 December 2023 720234128311
Cost RN 1,163 9,642 10,805
Accumulated amortisation BET#E (1,059) (4,104) (5,163)
Net book value FREFE 104 5,538 5,642
At 1 January 2022 M2022F181H
Cost B 1,120 6,927 8,047
Accumulated amortisation RET#H (965) (2,711) (3,676)
Net book value BREE(E 155 4,216 4,371
Year ended 31 December 2022 #£2022%512H831H
IEEE
Opening net book value FYREFE 155 4,216 4,371
Additions NE 2 921 923
Amortisation (Note 8) B8y (KaE8) (55) (642) (697)
Closing net book value FREEFE 102 4,495 4,597
At 31 December 2022 M2022%F12831H
Cost B AN 1,122 7,849 8,971
Accumulated amortisation BT (1,020) (3,354) (4,374)
Net book value IREFE 102 4,495 4,597
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets was charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

follows:

e B R M )

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

18 BELEE @)

BVEAESHCNEABRakEME
EERABKNT

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2022
20224
RMB
AR
Administrative expenses TR 789 697
19 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19 ERAEEE
As at 31 December
R12A831H
2022
20224
RMB’000
AREF T
Land use rights + Hb s A A 35,999 36,898
Properties LS 2,611 199
38,610 37,097
WtERERAT —To=FFH /35



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

19 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(1) Land use rights

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments for land located in the PRC and the
lease term is 50 years. The net book amount of land use right
is analysed as follows:

19 FRAEEE@

(1) LibfE A&

AEBR I FERAERESIERMN
REBEN N BEMEEHER
o MEEEASOE - - (EF
HEmFEESTOT :

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2022

2022 FF

RMB’000

ARMBF T

Cost B 40,936 40,936
Accumulated depreciation REHTE (4,937) (4,038)
Net book value BREFE 35,999 36,898
Opening net book value FYIRMmFE 36,898 7,265
Additions NE - 30,130
Amortisation charges (Note 8) BIHBR (Hits) (899) (497)
Closing net book value FREMFE 35,999 36,898

The amount of RMB296,000 (2022: RMB246,000)
amortisation was charged to administrative expenses and the
amount of RMB603,000 (2022: RMB251,000) amortisation
was capitalised to assets under construction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

19 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(2) Properties

The Group leases properties for own use. Information about
leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below:

19 FRAEEE @

() Y=

AEEHEMEDHEAER AR
AEBEEREABANEEENZ

FIEAT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2022

2022 F

RMB’000

ARBF T

Cost B AR 6,354 6,700
Accumulated depreciation REHIE (3,743) (6,501)
Net book value BREFE 2,611 199
Opening net book value FYIERMmFE 199 2,547
Addition =T 5,595 506
Disposals e - (262)
Depreciation charge (Note 8) WEBR(HT8) (3,183) (2,592)
Closing net book value FAREMFE 2,611 199

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and the consolidated statements of
cash flows contain the following amounts relating to leases:

meBakHEtE2EKER &R
ERENEREBEATEAHREE

MIE R

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31MBLEE

2022
2022 4
RMB’000
ARBFT
Depreciation and amortisation CRAREENER
charges of right-of-use assets HiHER 3,183 2,592
Interest paid ERFE 90 83
Expenses relating to low value of  KEERPHEE
short-term leases AR X 3,197 3,021
The cash outflows for leases as HEERLE TN
operating activities R&md 3,197 3,021
The cash outflows for leases as HEERME RN
financing activities WE 4,674 2,881
WiHERERAT —Bo=FFR 3/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

20 RERE D 2EMT A
AEEHELTORIA -

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022
2022 FF
Note RMB’000
it ARETIT
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: AR 2
SEEE
Trade receivables =) e e 22 151,192 120,661
Other receivables (excluding recoverable £ fih & U B
value added tax) (AT YR B 2 (B
BRAN) 23 2,784 2,651
Cash and cash in bank He RiR1TRE 26 183,765 143,221
Other current assets HEimanEE 25 100,590 105,000
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAE
profit or loss mBREE 24 - 103,975
438,331 475,508
Financial liabilities calz I N=R
Liabilities at amortised cost: BN ZBE
Trade and other payables (excluding B 5 REAMPER
staff salaries and welfare payables and I (ENRE
accrued taxes other than income tax) FEREN R
FEETBLIE (FT15
TEBRAN) BRON) 29 157,016 77,155
Lease liabilities HEEE 37 1,122 201
Financial liabilities at fair value through 2 A FET AR
profit or loss mZemBE 24 - 4,972
158,138 82,328
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M )

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

21 INVENTORIES

21 7€

As at 31 December

M12A31H

2022

2022 %

RMB’000

ARETIT

Raw materials B 30,760 32,935

Work in progress g 8,516 5,558

Finished goods LR 31,243 27,656
Provision for impairment of GERBEEE

inventories (1,866) (88)

68,653 66,061

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost
of sales” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
amounted to RMB462,931,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB305,536,000).

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES

HE2023F12A31BIEEE - #
BRARILWHT AGZEEZEKE
EAEERRNINFEEXRRABEAR
#462,931,0007T (20224F : AR
305,536,0007T) ©

22 ES EWFIE

As at 31 December

n12831H

2022

20224

RMB’000

ARET T
Trade receivables due from third BEIWE =5 2 E 5 EWFE

parties 154,221 124,133
Less: allowance for impairment of  J& : & 5 B W FUBRE B &

trade receivables (3,029) (3,472)

Trade receivables - net BESEWFE-F5E 151,192 120,661

Trade receivables all arise from sales of goods.

B RIGREAREHEE M

WtHERERAT —T-=FF#% /39



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the gross carrying amounts
of trade receivables before provision were denominated in the
following currencies:

22 B 5 EWFEIE @
PR2023F K 2022F 12 A31H » N #&
BRESREWREBEZBREEZAT
EMEHE

As at 31 December

R12H831H
2022
2022 F
RMB’000
ARET T
usD EV 111,694 102,458
RMB () AR®E®D) 42,527 21,675
154,221 124,133

(1) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, RMB38,059,418 and RMB 15,047,311 was
due from oversea clients who made the payment via Cross-border Interbank
Payment System respectively.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

() TA20234F 20229128318 AR
38,059,418 L X AR5 15,047,311 705 Bl A&
BYEIEFPFE (BREERITHEAIMNR
G fd) -

M20234F K2022F 128318 ER
BHZAHNE S ERZIEBNEREK ST
Ul

As at 31 December

R12A318

2022

2022 4

RMB’000

ARBFT

Within 30 days 30B®R 55,906 37,295

Over 30 days and within 180 days #2330 H =180 H K 95,252 80,501

Over 180 days and within one year i@ 1808 E1F R 279 1,964

Over one year and within two years i@ 1FZ2F R 746 2,817
Over two years and within BR2FEEIFNA

three years 2,038 1,556

154,221 124,133

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of trade
receivables approximated their carrying amounts. Sales of products
are received in accordance with the terms of the relevant sales
agreements, and due for payment upon the issuance of invoice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR R MR (|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the assets. The expected loss rates are
based on the payment profiles of sales over past years and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group
has identified the factors such as GDP of the countries in which
it sells its goods to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors. At every reporting date the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did
not hold any collateral as security over these debtors.

22 B 5 EWFEIE @

AEEEREBYSREERFE IS
AR E HERKEEEY SR
REBTHEREPFTEPEEE -E
HEEXDERBEFEZHENK
HERZHARANEREZHERLZE
BE -BREEXRDNEHAEIREE
YRGB ZEINE
BREERZZEAMAIEMEER - K
SEEBNZEREZ PIMELEE
mATEBRR 2 BRNEELBE AR AR
FAZ Bt BIEZSHAEZENRTEH
HEREESEEER NERELHE -
EERELENERSEFAAESE
HEZEEEETHON - RN2023F &
2022% 12 A31H AEBEWEEAET
IR R IE AZ SRR Z KT -

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
ECL Rate ECL Rate
BRHMEE EHEE
S B e %
Within 30 days 30HA 0.15% 0.08%
Over 30 days and within 180 days #8830 H % 180 HA 0.45% 0.18%
Over 180 days and within one year #8180 HE 1F K 21.30% 14.33%
Over one year and within two years #2i@1FE2FER 56.90% 51.83%
Over two years FBiA 2 F 100.00% 100.00%

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

BHRWRREREBEZE T

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTTT

At the beginning of the year REF (3.472) (4,125)
Provision for impairment BB S (1,133) (417)
Written off during the year F A 8 1,576 1,070
At the end of the year RER (3,029) (3,472)

WiZRERAT —Bo=gFR (4]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

142

23 ANRE -BEREME

RECEIVABLES
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2022
20224
RMB’000
ARETF T
Prepayments TEfT I
— Advances to suppliers — A FE R E K 7,849 10,468
— Prepaid income tax —JE TSR 129 3,773
— Prepaid value-added tax —JETIEER 7,831 1,005
Subtotal NEE 15,809 15,246
Other receivables H b W 3R T8
— Deposits %% 975 926
— Advances to employees —M{EE BN 947 1,017
— Recoverable value-added tax —aJ U El Z B ER 14,396 3,670
— Amounts due from related — FE Uy BB 7 3R I8 (B 7L 36(d))
parties (Note 36(d)) 416 462
— Others —HA 446 246
Subtotal NEE 17,180 6,321
Total #Er 32,989 21,567
Less: Allowance for impairment of & :  fth J& U 3R T8 R (B 1
other receivables (327) (217)
32,662 21,350
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R R MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23 FENRIE - e REME

RECEIVABLES (continued) W TR (a0
Movements in the provision for impairment of other receivables Hitn e R IBRIEREOZEFHOT -

are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2022

2022 4

RMB’000

AREF T

At the beginning of the year REH] (217) (325)
Provision for/(reversal of) RERE, (BE)

impairment (110) 63

Written off during the year F RS = 45

At the end of the year RER (327) (217)

24 FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) AT FAIR 24 BAFEHITAEZz2¢/

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE(AF)
Financial assets ERMEE
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2022
2022 F
RMB’000
ARET T
Funds e = 101,560
Wealth management products PR ITEIT B ER
issued by commercial banks - 1,650
RMB:USD fixed-fixed cross-currency A FR#E 5, €T EE X XN E
exchange rate swap i 5 1Y = 765
- 103,975
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

24 FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) AT 24 AT EFABEZZERH
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE (A8 w
(Continued)
Financial liabilities EcHMAas
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2022
2022 %
RMB’000
ARMBF T
Foreign currency forwards SN IR R G 4 = (4,656)
USD:RMB fixed-fixed cross-currency 37T H A R EE 2 X g
exchange rate swap HE 2 = B - (316)
- (4,972)
For information about the methods used in determining fair value, EEARBERTEZAEZER
please refer to Note 4.3. E2HME43
25 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 25 HittRB&E
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2022
20224
RMB’000
ARMBEF T
Fixed deposits TEBFR 100,590 105,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

26 CASH AND CASH IN BANK 26 RERRTHRS
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022
2022 %
RMB’000
AREF T
Cash on hand FHEE® 15 15
Cash in banks () RITEE(0) 183,378 142,256
Cash in other financial institutions R E {th 8 #5 # B RV IR & 372 950
183,765 143,221
() As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, Cash in banks contains RMB13,550,510 (i) A2023F K 20224128318 81718
and RMB15,331,597 restricted cash deposits, respectively. 2R BEARKE13,550,510 L & AR
15,331,597 TR B HIIR S FHK
The carrying amounts of cash and cash in bank are denominated REMRITESNREENTIER
in the following currencies: EIRER
As at 31 December
M®12HA31H
2022
20224
RMB’000
ARET T
RMB ARE 92,158 59,856
usD EP 89,377 83,170
HKD BT 2,230 195
183,765 143,221
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

27 BA KRR RE

AAFDA2018F 11 B13BEHSE
Bk - ReEfiksz BE - A ER
7K /£ 380,000/8 7T © AR EE0.0015

27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

On 13 November 2018, the Company was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. At the date of incorporation, the authorised share
capital was HKD380,000 at par value of HKD0.001.

ﬁ o
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid: BEEITRFEEBEK:
Equivalent
Number of Nominal nominal
ordinary value value Share
shares of shares of shares premium
ZER RORE R&ORE
#A BE BESE IR 4t B
HKD RMB RMB’000
BT ARET ARETT
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H 405,042,000 405,042 358,767 206,813
At 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H 405,042,000 405,042 358,767 249,653
28 OTHER RESERVES 28 Hfthf#
Capital Statutory Translation  Total other
reserves reserves  differences reserves
Hits
EXRFEE EE A BREZH RIBERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE
As at 1 January 2023 R2023F1H81H (72,629) 51,686 97 (20,846)
Exchange differences on BINEBRE 2
translation of foreign & 5 =R
operations - - 47 47
Appropriation to statutory  BEEE AT E
reserves - 7,244 - 7,244
As at 31 December 2023 2023412 831H (72,629) 58,930 144 (13,555)
As at 1 January 2022 202218 1H (72,629) 46,481 - (26,148)
Exchange differences on BINEBIME 2
translation of foreign ME W ZE
operations - - 97 97
Appropriation to statutory ¥ EZE AT G
reserves - 5,205 - 5,205
As at 31 December 2022 4202212 831H (72,629) 51,686 97 (20,846)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29 EF RHMENRE
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2022
2022 4F
RMB’000
ARBTT

Trade payables 2 5 e 518 104,989 70,001

Other payables H iy fE A FRIB 52,027 7,154

Staff salaries and welfare payables — fE{HE: B & K &7 10,153 5,264

Others H A, 1,886 1,806

169,055 84,225

(@) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all trade and other (@) M 20234 K2022% 128318

payables of the Group were non-interest bearing. REEBMEZ S R EMEMFKIE
RRE e

(b) During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the (b) B E=2023%F &2022F12A31H
majority of the Group’s trade and other payables were IEFE AEEBRIALEHRE
denominated in RMB. RN FIET R ARKEETE -

(c) Aging analysis of trade payables to third parties and related (0 REFERZBBBEZRZAHE
parties based on invoice date at the respective year end dates NE=ZFLEABAT B HENK
was as follows: HERR DT T ¢

As at 31 December

MW12A31H

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBTT
Within one year 1FLAN 103,624 69,533
Over one year and within two years fBiB1FE2F R 1,062 339
Over two years B2 F 303 129
104,989 70,001
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e B SRR MR (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

30 BORROWINGS 30 B &
As at 31 December
W12A31H
2022
202245
Non-
Current current Total

B FREDH st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTL ARETR

Bank loans - unsecured BOTEHR-BER 80,000 26,000 106,000 115,000 - 115,000
Bank loans - secured () RITEF-FEA() 10,000 - 10,000 20,000 - 20,000
90,000 26,000 116,000 135,000 - 135,000
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowings were repayable M2023F 12 A310  AEBEREER
as follows: ZIEEWT
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2022
2022 %
RMB’000
AREFT
Within one year R1FER 90,000 135,000
Between 1 and 2 years 15824 26,000 -
116,000 135,000
() The secured bank loans were related to the bank acceptance bills discounted () BEBARTERE-HZHRITEEHR
with a local bank. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group pledged THENRZIEB R - N2023F K2022F 12
RMB2,155,810.92 and RMB5,861,320 respectively in the bank for the purpose A31H  AEERURRITERLERR
of discounting of bank acceptance bills. RATH IR AR ¥2,155,810.92 T K AR
5,861,320 7T ©
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31 LEASE LIABILITIES 31 HEAE
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2022
2022 4F
RMB’000
AREF T
Minimum lease payments due ISR E R
— Within 1 year —-R1FER 1,139 204
Less: Future finance charges B RKEEE A (17) 3)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAaERAE 1,122 201
The Group leases factory workshops and shopping mall counters. AEEHEIRERREISIEE - Z
These lease liabilities were measured at net present value of the EHEAERSENEHAZNHNEAE
lease payments to be paid during the lease terms. NFFRERE -
Lease liabilities were discounted at incremental borrowing rate. HEABRKREEERMEFIR - EHR
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate REEEENMETEAEANES
applied to the lease liabilities was 4.75%. BRFEEL75% °
For the total cash outflows for leases including payments of lease BEAEAENREBEERN RN
liabilities and payments of interest expenses on leases are disclosed FHHERIR SRR 1985E -
in Note 19.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 2 EEMBHEERAE
LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax assets EEFIBHEE
As at 31 December
M®12HA31H
2022
20224
Note RMB’000
Hia ARETF T
The balance comprises temporary % #&£ #E LA T~ & 18 FE 15 HY
differences attributable to: Rt =S
Allowance on doubtful debts RIREMH 164 249
Accrued expenses TERAX 317 314
Lease liabilities HEBE 192 -
Fair value gain on financial assets & RVEE 2 A FEKE - 687
Tax losses HIEE B 45 55
Unrealized profit REIR % F 1,087 -
Total deferred income tax assets RIEMEREERE 1,805 1,305
Set-off of deferred income tax IR IR 55 37 E AR IR T
liabilities pursuant to set-off FisfiaE
provisions () (656) (1,233)
Net deferred income tax assets FIEFTET B EFE 1,149 72
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets (Continued)

R EEREBHEERER@

EEFESHREE @

Allowance Fair value
on loss on
doubtful financial Accrued Lease Tax Unrealized
debts assets expenses liabilities losses profit Total
SREEZ
REER  ATEER BREAX HEEME HEFR  ARRER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFR ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARETFT ARBTT
As at 1 January 2023 R2023%1518 249 687 314 - 55 = 1,305
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated (B /st NG ABER
statement of profit or loss (85) (687) 3 192 (10) 1,087 500
At 31 December 2023 R2023E128318 164 - 317 192 45 1,087 1,805
As at 1 January 2022 R202%1518 492 - 110 52 100 - 754
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated () /st \EAERR
statement of profit or loss (243) 687 204 (52) (45) - 551
At 31 December 2022 R202E128318 249 687 314 - 55 - 1,305
WHERERAT —To=FF% /5]
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32

152

e R R M|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 2 EEMBHEEREEm
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFIEHEE
As at 31 December
M®12HA31H
2022
20224
Note RMB’000
Hia ARETF T
The balance comprises temporary % #&£ #E LA T~ & 18 FE 15 HY
differences attributable to: Rt =S
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB RE 1,203 1,369
Fair value gain on financial assets &R E =2 A FEKZD 156 -
Undistributed profits of N EYNCId i
subsidiaries 7,500 -
Right-of-use assets CREEE 446 -
Total deferred income tax liabilities IEIEFTIST: & (H42%58 9,305 1,369
Set-off of deferred income tax R SE R T SR
liabilities pursuant to set-off FisfiaE
provisions ) (656) (1,233)
Net deferred income tax liabilities  iEIEFTSF: & (& F 58 8,649 136
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32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND R EEMBHEERAEE @
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities (continued) EIEFEHEE @
Undistributed
Fair value profits of
gain on Property, subsidiaries,
financial plantand  Right-of-use joint ventures
assets equipment assets and associates Total
WEAR -
BELER
SREEZ n¥ - BE BENRZ
AFERE &k FHEESE ADTKEF @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT ARBTE ARETT  ARET:

Asat 1January 2023  ®2023F1A1A - 1,369 - - 1,369

(Credited)/charged to the (3T A) /B 44
consolidated statement  B#H &

of profit or loss 156 (166) 446 7,500 7,936
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12A31H 156 1,203 446 7,500 9,305
As at 1 January 2022 M2022%181A 320 - 46 - 366

(Credited)/charged to the (st A) /HB&4A
consolidated statement  E#EX

of profit or loss (320) 1,369 (46) - 1,003
At31December 2022 20225 12A31H - 1,369 - - 1,369
Note (j): Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally et () - & 78 A 4R0% 5% i R 1T 69 18 1) % BN HR 75 18

enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities EEENBHEEGERN MELHE
and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax MEERBERR —HRBEEE R ER
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different BERITHRERMERESLNAMETHAE
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balance and a net HMEEERFRELELFEHRE BB
basis. EFEHEERAMBIEE -
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32

154

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Continued)

Deferred tax assets not recognized

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry
forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had tax losses of RMB32,242,000 (2022:
RMB35,156,000) to carry forward, which were not recognised as
deferred tax assets as the Directors considered that the utilisation
of these tax losses in the foreseeable future is not probable, of
which an amount of RMB6,316,000 (2022: RMB11,073,000)
will expire as follows and an amount of RMB25,926,000 (2022:
RMB24,083,000) has no expiry date.

2 BEFFSGHEEREGmw

ABRBWELEREEE

AT A8 B A R K I ER A i A 3R AR
BHEMDS et @ o HEEER
RIELEFMSHEE - R2023F 12 A4
31H - AEEHEE AR %32,242,000
JC (20224 : AR #35,156,0007T) 2
HEEE AREERANATLERRK
TARAEDAZEHBEEE W E
BERRABELERBEE  EHhLE
AR #6,316,00070 (20224 : AR
11,073,000 70) A AT B B @ m M &
A RM25,926,0007 (20224 : AR
#524,083,0007T) I 4 & m B & -

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETF T

To be expired by LA B BARTE W

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H - 2,415
31 December 2026 2026412 A31H - 4,506
31 December 2027 2027412 A31H 3,140 4,152
31 December 2028 2028412 A31H 3,176 -
Subtotal INEE 6,316 11,073
No expiry date = fEm B ER 25,926 24,083
Unused tax losses RE)PIEEE 32,242 35,156

As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB4,482,000 (31 December 2022: RMB10,003,000) were not
recognised for the withholding tax (tax rate of 5%) and other
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
certain subsidiaries. Unremitted earnings totalled approximately
RMB89,650,000 at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
RMB200,054,000).
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M2023F 12 A31H  BEEMEHRA
BEARM 4,482,000 (2022412 A 31
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

33 DIVIDENDS 33 RE
As at 31 December
R12A31H

2022

20224

RMB’000

ARETTT

Dividends s\ 42,840 -
On 17 January 2023, an extraordinary general meeting of the M2023F 18178 AR2aAARKRE
Company was held to approve the declaration and payment of a FRIAE &S IR RRERRIRE
special dividend of HKD7 cents per share with the total amount of BR7E - 8258 /528,352,940 %
HKD28,352,940 (approximately RMB24,406,211). On 7 November T (#) AR 24,406,211 75) ° 722023
2023, the Board announced to resolve the declaration and FNMNA7TH ZEFEEMRAETIRK
payment of a special dividend of HKD5 cents per share with the MEBEFARSEBRSEBIN - B2BER
total amount of HKD20,252,100 (approximately RMB18,433,461). 20,252,100 7T (#) A R % 18,433,461

TT) °
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34 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash generated from operations

3 BERER
(a) BEFMBRE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
iik=a AR® T ARBTT
Profit before income tax R FT1S B AT 4= A 77,456 56,374
Adjustments for: TR
— Amortisation of intangible —mEEEE
assets 18 789 697
— Depreciation of property, —W%E - BERERBTE
plant and equipment 16 15,863 10,936
— Amortisation and depreciation —{F AL E#HRITE
of right-of-use assets 19 3,479 2,838
— Depreciation of investment —REMERE
properties 17 377 377
— Impairment loss on financial ~ — & B & E 2 BEE R
assets 22,23 1,243 354
— Net losses on disposal of —HEWE - BE KRB
property, plant and BB 1R 55
equipment 11 130 109
- Net gains on disposal of right- — H & {F A # & E /MW
of-use assets FE 11 = (32)
— Gain on disposal of financial —HE&ELREER
assets Wz (7.351) (577)
— Finance costs — BT R AR 2 1,391 1,522
— Net exchange differences —[EH R HEE (6,487) (12,675)
Changes in working capital: LEESEY
— Inventories —-FE (2,592) 23,578
— Trade receivables — & SN FIE (31,664) 25,651
— Prepayments, deposits and —TERNRIE e R EAM
other receivables and FEWUFRIE Jo X IR ]
restricted cash B (9,634) (4,165)
— Financial assets and — B AT EFABRE L
liabilities at fair value TREERBE
through profit or loss (4,972) 4,972
— Contract liabilities —AHaE 118 1,264
— Trade and other payables — B REMENKIEA 40,552 6.158
Cash generated from operations #&& TSR & 78,698 117,381
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34 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of

(@)

property, plant and equipment comprise:

34 BEREE @)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

(b) RS mEEN HEME K
EREH Y MERERE

2023 2022

2023 & 20224

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

HraE AR¥T T ARBEF T

Net book amount BRmEFE 6 130 1,326
Losses on disposal of property, HEWE MENLEH

plant and equipment &5 18 11 (130) (109)

- 1,217

Net debt reconciliation

(0 FEEHR

Lease liabilities Borrowings Total
HEEE EEN et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T ARET T
Net debt as at A2022F1H1H8
1 January 2022 ZEEE (2,785) (80,000) (82,785)
New leases 4 (592) - (592)
Disposal e 295 - 295
Cash flows BeEnE 2,881 (55,000) (52,119)
Net debt as at 7A2022F12A31H
31 December 2022 ZFEaE (201) (135,000) (135,201)
Net debt as at M2023F1H1H
1 January 2023 ZFEeE (201) (135,000) (135,201)
New leases AL (5,595) = (5,595)
Disposal HE - - -
Cash flows Ren=s 4,674 19,439 24,113
Net debt as at 720234 12A831H
31 December 2023 ZEREE (1,122) (115,561) (116,683)
BtHERAERAT 2 —Bo=FF% 5/
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35 COMMITMENTS 35 AHEIE
(a) Operating lease commitments — as lessee (a) KREHEAFE —EAEKME
A
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under these 2 g BN Al BN R L TR A R
short-term non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: R EBEMNZ@mEMNT

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2022
2022
RMB’000
ARBT T
Within one year 1F AR 3,326 2,355
(b) Capital commitments (b) BEAFH
Significant capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 2023 4F K 2022F 12 A31H Z
December 2023 and 2022 but not recognised as liabilities is DI EREREAENEARSR
as follows: AL
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2022
2022
RMB’000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment W - B &K 36,100 21

158  KWUNG’S HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR R MR (|

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Names and relationship with related

parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operation decisions. Parties are also considered

to be related if they are subject to common control.

The following is a summary of the significant transactions
carried out between the Group and its related parties in
the ordinary course of business during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, and balances arising from related
party transactions as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Name of related parties

BB S B

36 BHMSX5

(a) BB S BB R EERB S B
B 1%

M- BAENERIEEREHS
—HEEm T EERMBME
ERRTEEERTZEN A&
TRBBREBN - MEEZHK
RE SRS - A& D TR A=
FAE Y ©

LA B E 20234 % 2022412
A31HIEFEAREEEEBEE S
R—BEBBEFPETHNERAR
SHE - LARR 20234 %2022 4F
NRANEMNEBR AR IEENLE
ﬁﬁ}o

Nature of relationship

REME

Mr. Jin Jianxin

TEFTE

Shaoxing Shi Jingming

AT A

Ningbo Kwung’s Investment Holdings Co., Limited

EREH IR EERAR AR

Ningbo Jingyuan Cultural Development Co., Limited

ERBETX(CERBRAA

Ningbo Internet Trading Culture Development
Co., Limited

ERBEEEERULERERAA

Ultimate Controlling Shareholder

BARERAR R

Entity controlled by Ultimate Controlling Shareholder

REEIRARCR I H 2 B 88

Entity controlled by Ultimate Controlling Shareholder

RAEEIRACR 2 B 88

Entity controlled by Ultimate Controlling Shareholder

RRTERRER S 2 B 88

Entity formally controlled by Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder

BRRERRR S 2 B
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

160

(b) Transactions with related parties

36 EEEE RS w0

(b) BB IR Z

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEE

2022
2022
RMB’000
ARBTT
Payment on behalf of related 12 F R 5 B 17 74
parties
- Ningbo Internet Trading Culture — — %)% B& t 49 Z B S0 b
Development Co., Limited BERABMR AT = 144
Expenses paid by a related party on [E8 77 1L K5 B2 17,2 5H
behalf of the Group
- Ningbo Jingyuan Cultural —ERETXER
Development Co., Limited BIRAE] 919 1,093
— Shaoxing Shi Jingming — A ET = - 93
9219 1,186
Lease payment to a related party — [7] — & B8 5 5 17 E3H
- Ningbo Jingyuan Cultural —ERETXER
Development Co., Limited BRAA 1,520 3,811
- Ningbo Kwung’s Investment —ERBEEREER
Holdings Co., Limited BRAFA - 361
— Shaoxing Shi Jingming — A ET = = 266
1,520 4,438
Lease compensation received from £ —% B 5 Y HR T E @ (&
a related party
— Shaoxing Shi Jingming — 4 ET R - 780
Labour costs paid to a related party [l —% EGE 7 3 11 45 Bk AR
— Shaoxing Shi Jingming — A=A - 550
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36 EABEG X H i

() Key management compensation () BREEASHM
Key management includes directors and senior management. HAREEBAEBDEEELRASRE
Other than those for directors as disclosed in Note 37, no BE -BRFIZVERBENESIHN
compensations were paid or payable to senior management B E2023F &2022F12A31H
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. EFEVEENKENaRER
[E B -
(d) Balances with related parties (d) EERAEE 5 M4 6R
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2022
2022 4
RMB’000
ARBTT
Amounts due from related parties — fEH BG4 B
—Ningbo Jingyuan Cultural —EREBET Xt
Development Co., Limited BRAF 416 416
- Ningbo Kwung'’s Investment —ERBEHIREER
Holdings Co., Limited BIRAF - 46
416 462
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

37 DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS

As of the date of issue of these financial statements, the directors
of the Company are as follows:

Executive directors
Mr. Jin Jianxin
Mr. Tian Dong

Non-executive directors
Mr. Patrick Shao

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Zhou Kai

Mrs. Xu Qiong

Mr. Yang Herong

Mr. Lai Chun Yu

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The directors received emoluments from the Group (in
their role as senior management and employee before their
appointment as directors respectively) for the year ended 31
December 2023 as follows:

37

EENNERER

REMZEVHERERAY ARFAE
=M

BITES
BEMLE
AREE

FHTHS
BB 5 45

BYFHITES
FEelk &
Bt

B EE
RIRFRE

(a) EEME

HZE2023F12A31HILLFE &
EEAEEMREAB S (EEE
ZHEBEEZANRUNERER
BMREEHM) WT

Name ]

Executive directors HiTES

Mr. Jin Jianxin TEFMEE - - - - -

Mr. Tian Dong BRAE - 614 - - 614

Non-executive directors ~ F#HTES

Mr. Shao Patrick x4 - - - - -

Independent non-executive BIFHTEES

directors

Mr. Zhou Kai Bl 80 = = = 80

Mrs. Xu Qiong BELL 80 - - - 80

Mr. Lai Chun Yu PRFLE 163 - - - 163
323 614 - - 937
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

37 DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(@

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The directors received emoluments from the Group (in
their role as senior management and employee before their
appointment as directors respectively) for the year ended 31

37 EEMNNERER W

(a) EEM <€ w0

HE2022F12A31HILFE &
EEAEEMMUEBNINE (EEE
EAEESE AN RER

December 2022 as follows: EXEEEHG)WT :
Housing
allowances
and
contributions
to a retirement
Name 4 Fees Salaries Bonus scheme Total
FEHER
He He 4 RINETEMER @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARBTT  ARBTT  AREFT  ARETR
Executive directors HiTEZR
Mr. Jin Jianxin TEMAE - - _ - _
Mr. Tian Dong AR%EE - - - - -
Non-executive directors ~ #F#TES
Mr. Shao Patrick B - _ _ _ _
Independent non-executive B FHTEES
directors
Mr. Zhou Kai Al e 80 _ - _ 80
Mrs. Xu Qiong 3 L 56 _ - _ 5
Mr. Lai Chun Yu PRFERE 158 - - - 158
294 - - - 294

Retirement benefits of directors

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there were no additional retirement benefits received by the
directors except for the contribution to a retirement benefit
scheme in accordance with the rules and regulations in the
PRC.

Termination benefits of directors

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
were no termination benefits received by the directors.

(b) EEHEKER

H E20234 K% 202212 A31H
IEFE - BRREP R B AE

B IR R AR A ET B4R
REFBEIMRIRER

(0 EENEBER

EEY

HE2023F % 202212 A31H
IEFE  BEWRESEERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS

(Continued)

(d) Consideration provided to third parties
for making available the services of
directors

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
consideration was paid for making available the services of

the directors or senior management of the Company.

(e)

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,

bodies corporate controlled by and
entities connected with such directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
by the Company or subsidiaries of the Company, where

applicable, in favour of directors.

(f) Director’s material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Except for mentioned above and those disclosed elsewhere
in Note 35, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had interests, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 December 2023 and

2022 or at any time during the years then ended.

KWUNG’S HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ Annual Report 2023

37 EEMNFERER W

(d RESEERBEAE=F

(e)

()

REHNKE

B 220239 K2022F12 A31H
HFE BEIXNRENESK
NEIEZLRREREHRE -

NES - ZAMESHE
#1055 A B # S AS B
ENERAEEANE
% EERREMR S
B

B E2023% &2022F12 831 H
IEFE - KRB HAR BB
AR(NER)MENESAZ %
AT EMER  EERREAM
R e

EERXS ZHHEY
ZEXRER

Br ATt MM FE3S AR R A
AN R 20234 K 2022 F 12 A 31
BB 2% EHBIEFERNTM
B ARBIRARRZHER
AMEVEASEESER
BARAARIEENEGRHEREE K
MEESHNENERRS L5
MAH#H -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

38 FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 38 AAFEMBARR KR #ER
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )
(a) The Company’s statements of financial (a) &2 Bl H B Bk R &=
position
As at 31 December 2023 120235128318
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022
20224
Note RMB’000
it ARET T
Assets EE
Non-current asset IRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary BE —XMBAR a 163,681 163,681
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Uz B A 7 FkI1E b 3,074 42,274
Prepayments and other TE AT R I8 I H b fE Y 5k IE
receivables 137 328
Cash and cash equivalents ReReEEY 52,918 38,524
Total current assets RBEEREE 56,129 81,126
Total assets EEHE 219,810 244,807
Equity fEm
Share capital f& A< 27 359 359
Share premium B& 17 % B 27 206,813 249,653
Accumulated losses Z5TEE c (21,126) (19,960)
Total equity EREE 186,046 230,052
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAST B B A B R IE 33,670 14,467
Accruals and other payables FE T & FA R B JE <58 94 288
Total liabilities BEHE 33,764 14,755
Total equity and liabilities EzRkEERE 219,810 244,807
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 E E 2023F 12 A31 HILFE

38 FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 38 AARMBARRREREE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) B
(b) Notes to the Company’s statement of (b) &7 B B AR R R M &
financial position
Note a:  Investment in a subsidiary represents the investment in Kwung’s Hita: RHBARMNKRERNRBELIRE
investments. WA -
Note b: Amounts due from subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 represented MaFb : 20234128318  EKRHE

the intercompany borrowings. RAFBIEERAREEE -

Note c: Movements of accumulated losses. Matc: BETEBZZE-

Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F 181 B (19,960)
Comprehensive loss 2HEER

Loss for the year FAHERE (1,166)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31 B8 (21,126)

Accumulated losses

2t B8
RMB’000
ARETTT
Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022F 181 BH&ER (22,554)
Comprehensive loss 2HEE
Profit for the year F N5 F 2,594
Balance at 31 December 2022 72022512 A31 B & (19,960)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z£2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

39 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 2 January 2024, the Group subscribed interests in two
investment funds in the PRC totalling RMB100 million funded by
the Group’s surplus cash reserves to enhance the utilisation of
capital and increase income from idle funds.

On 20 February 2024, an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company was held to approve the equity transfer agreement (the
“Agreement”) entered into between Ningbo Kwung’s Wisdom
Art & Design Co., Ltd., an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, (the “Vendor”) and Ningbo Kwung’s Investment
Holding Co., Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. JIN Jianxin, an
ultimate controlling shareholder, (the “Purchase”) under which the
Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to purchase 100%
equity interest of Ningbo Wanwei Crafts Manufacturing Co., Ltd.,
an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company holding
certain land-use rights and properties of the Group (the “Target”),
at a cash consideration of RMB47 million. Upon completion of
the transaction stipulated in the Agreement, the Group ceased to
have any equity interest in the Target and the Target ceased to be
a subsidiary of the Company.

39 EEBEXRHEEE

R2024F1 A28  AEEFNBAKE
CREREMEPEILEESERS
BREAEARBI0EE T Weeds
FRERENEEES WA -

MR2024F2A208 AR ABRKE
BRAXE HEARREEZENB
NAEFBEHERIERFARAQ A
([EF) BRERTERBREeSEILE
PRERH AR BERBEHIREERARAQ
AIBEFD T EEER (15
B B BAFREHEMEASR
EREEARARMEEL2ENBARER
EHRIZEREEBRAR (FELAEH
AETIwERERME) (BEAR])
R1100% ki - e REAARKL7
BET RBBEREOIDEKE
RNEETERE BIZRARNEARE -
BRI THARRGNMBAT -
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

p? M TAY
HEBEENRBE
Year ended 31 December
HZ12R31ALEE
2022 2021 2020 2019
20025 20216 20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETnT ARETn ARBTR
Revenue N 806,551 718,675 631,395 472,179 501,131
Gross profit £ 162,132 134,395 121,126 108,149 133,679
Operating profit g R 78,847 57,896 56,315 47,563 32,963
Profit before income tax BRAEHIEN 71,456 56,374 56,115 48,062 32,568
Income tax expense FERAX (16,659) (3,736) (7,077) (7,306) (4,758)
Total comprehensive income for the year, KA FIEEA AEEER
attributable to owners of the Company PEYRES 60,692 52,704 48,998 40,795 27,827
Earnings per share for profits attributable to - K72 &1 A A B % F
owners of the Company MERAF
(expressed in RMB per share) (RERARBRT)
— Basic and diluted -ERLEE 15.0cents ? 13.0cents?  12.1centsd  102cents? 9.3 cents
As at 31 December
R12A318
2022 2021 2020 2019
20025 20216 20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  AR®Tn AR%Tn ARBTR
Non-current assets FRBEE 217,361 102,080 68,499 68,763 71,545
Current assets RBEE 536,862 560,268 477,989 327,350 203,000
Total assets EEBE 754,223 662,348 546,488 396,113 274,545
Non-current liabilities ¥RPER 26,000 - 241 2,176 5,671
Current liabilities mEBE 282,668 234,808 171,467 68,193 70,154
Total liabilities BEASE 308,668 234,808 171,708 70,369 75,825
Total equity BnEE 445,555 427,540 374,780 325,744 198,720
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